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PART I - FINANCIAL INFORMATION  
   

The unaudited consolidated income statements for the quarter and nine months ended July 2, 2006 of Microsemi Corporation and Subsidiaries 
(which we herein sometimes refer to collectively as “Microsemi”, “the Company”, “we”, “our”, “ours” or “us”), the unaudited consolidated 
statements of cash flows for the nine months ended July 2, 2006, and the comparative unaudited consolidated financial information for the 
corresponding periods of the prior year, together with the balance sheets as of October 2, 2005 and July 2, 2006 (unaudited) are included 
herein.  
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Item 1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
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MICROSEMI CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES  
Unaudited Consolidated Balance Sheets  

(amounts in thousands, except per share data)  
   

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.  
   

4  

     
October 2, 

2005     
July 2,  
2006 

ASSETS       

Current assets:       

Cash and cash equivalents     $ 98,149     $ 153,460 
Short term investments       —         1,000 
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts, $727 at October 2, 2005 and $1,424 at July 2, 

2006       53,233       67,988 
Inventories       55,917       82,995 
Deferred income taxes       12,921       9,639 
Other current assets       2,101       5,551 

       
  

      

Total current assets       222,321       320,633 
Property and equipment, net       58,366       67,460 
Deferred income taxes       8,074       —   
Goodwill       3,258       54,058 
Other intangible assets, net       4,493       47,006 
Other assets       4,069       1,100 

       
  

      

TOTAL ASSETS     $ 300,581     $ 490,257 
       

  

      

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY       

Current liabilities:       

Notes payable     $ 121     $ 213 
Current maturity of long-term liabilities       520       400 
Accounts payable       15,322       17,980 
Accrued liabilities       22,434       22,835 
Income taxes payable       3,981       6,242 

       
  

      

Total current liabilities       42,378       47,670 
       

  
      

Deferred income taxes       —         3,151 
Long-term liabilities       3,617       3,531 

       
  

      

Stockholders’  equity:       

Preferred stock, $1.00 par value; authorized 1,000 shares; none issued       —         —   
Common stock, $0.20 par value; authorized 100,000 shares; issued and outstanding 63,504 and 70,995 at 

October 2, 2005 and July 2, 2006, respectively       12,702       14,201 
Capital in excess of par value of common stock       163,134       315,364 
Retained earnings       78,774       106,327 
Accumulated other comprehensive loss       (24 )     13 

       
  

      

Total stockholders’ equity       254,586       435,905 
       

  
      

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY     $ 300,581     $ 490,257 
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MICROSEMI CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES  
Unaudited Consolidated Income Statements  

(amounts in thousands, except per share data)  
   

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.  
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     Quarter Ended   

     
July 3,  
2005     

July 2,  
2006   

Net sales     $ 75,214     $ 100,221   
Cost of sales       41,523       56,748   

       
  

      
  

Gross profit       33,691       43,473   
       

  
      

  

Operating expenses:       

Selling, general and administrative       15,680       14,223   
Research and development       4,583       6,678   
In-process research and development       —         15,300   
Amortization of intangible assets       229       1,403   
Impairment of assets, restructuring and severance charges / (credits)       (113 )     1,137   

       
  

      
  

Total operating expenses       20,379       38,741   
       

  
      

  

Operating income       13,312       4,732   
       

  
      

  

Other income (expense):       

Interest income       468       1,313   
Interest expense       (52 )     (41 ) 
Other, net       1       19   

       
  

      
  

Total other income       417       1,291   
       

  
      

  

Income before income taxes       13,729       6,023   
Provision for income taxes       3,978       5,906   

       
  

      
  

NET INCOME     $ 9,751     $ 117   
       

  

      

  

Earnings per share:       

Basic     $ 0.16     $ 0.00   
       

  

      

  

Diluted     $ 0.15     $ 0.00   
       

  

      

  

Common and common equivalent shares outstanding:       

Basic       62,013       69,397   
       

  

      

  

Diluted       65,697       72,006   
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MICROSEMI CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES  
Unaudited Consolidated Income Statements  

(amounts in thousands, except per share data)  
   

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.  
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     Nine Months Ended   

     
July 3,  
2005     

July 2,  
2006   

Net sales     $ 218,286     $ 267,233   
Cost of sales       130,803       146,072   

       
  

      
  

Gross profit       87,483       121,161   
       

  
      

  

Operating expenses:       

Selling, general and administrative       39,367       41,514   
Research and development       14,186       16,397   
In-process research and development       —         15,300   
Amortization of intangible assets       688       1,846   
Impairment of assets, restructuring and severance charges       3,274       2,298   

       
  

      
  

Total operating expenses       57,515       77,355   
       

  
      

  

Operating income       29,968       43,806   
       

  
      

  

Other income (expense):       

Interest income       924       3,329   
Interest expense       (149 )     (120 ) 
Other, net       6       19   

       
  

      
  

Total other income       781       3,228   
       

  
      

  

Income before income taxes       30,749       47,034   
Provision for income taxes       9,686       19,481   

       
  

      
  

NET INCOME     $ 21,063     $ 27,553   
       

  

      

  

Earnings per share:       

Basic     $ 0.34     $ 0.40   
       

  

      

  

Diluted     $ 0.33     $ 0.38   
       

  

      

  

Common and common equivalent shares outstanding:       

Basic       61,193       68,569   
       

  

      

  

Diluted       64,759       71,721   
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MICROSEMI CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES  
Unaudited Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows  

(amounts in thousands)  
   

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.  
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     Nine Months Ended   

     
July 3,  
2005     

July 2,  
2006   

Cash flows from operating activities:       

Net income     $ 21,063     $ 27,553   
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:       

Depreciation and amortization       9,177       10,846   
Provision for doubtful accounts       253       527   
Loss on dispositions and retirements of assets       547       17   
In-process research and development       —         15,300   
Tax benefit from stock option exercise       9,448       —     
Excess tax benefit from stock option exercises       —         (9,189 ) 
Charge for stock options       —         515   
Changes in assets and liabilities, net of acquisition:       

Accounts receivable       (7,742 )     (5,734 ) 
Inventories       (12 )     (8,934 ) 
Other current assets       366       (2,233 ) 
Other assets       —         93   
Accounts payable       (4,799 )     (1,416 ) 
Accrued liabilities       (516 )     (3,155 ) 
Income taxes payable       (638 )     14,231   
Other long-term liabilities       (154 )     —     

       
  

      
  

Net cash provided by operating activities       26,993       38,421   
       

  
      

  

Cash flows from investing activities:       

Purchases of property and equipment       (8,861 )     (7,927 ) 
Proceeds from sale of short term investments       —         15,951   
Changes in other assets       10       3,028   
Cash consideration for acquisition and payments of direct transaction costs, net of cash acquired       —         (23,894 ) 

       
  

      
  

Net cash used in investing activities       (8,851 )     (12,842 ) 
       

  
      

  

Cash flows from financing activities:       

Payments of long-term liabilities       (580 )     (206 ) 
Exercise of employee stock options       14,485       20,749   
Excess tax benefit from stock option exercises       —         9,189   

       
  

      
  

Net cash provided by financing activities       13,905       29,732   
       

  
      

  

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents       32,047       55,311   
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period       45,118       98,149   

       
  

      
  

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period     $ 77,165     $ 153,460   
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MICROSEMI CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES  
NOTES TO UNAUDITED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

July 2, 2006  
   

The unaudited consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Microsemi Corporation and its subsidiaries (which we herein 
sometimes refer to collectively as “Microsemi”, “the Company”, “we”, “our”, “ours” or “us”). Intercompany transactions have been eliminated 
in consolidation.  

The financial information furnished herein is unaudited, but in the opinion of our management, includes all adjustments (all of which are 
normal, recurring adjustments) necessary for a fair statement of the results of operations for the periods indicated. The results of operations for 
the first nine months of the current fiscal year are not necessarily indicative of the results to be expected for the full year.  

The accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the instructions to Form 10-Q, and 
therefore do not include all information and note disclosures necessary for a fair presentation of financial position, results of operations and 
cash flows in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles. The unaudited consolidated financial statements and notes should be 
read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and notes thereto in the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended 
October 2, 2005.  

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates  

The unaudited consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United 
States that require us to make estimates and assumptions that may materially affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of 
the unaudited consolidated financial statements and revenues and expenses during the periods reported. Actual results could differ materially 
from those estimates. Information with respect to our critical accounting policies which we believe could have the most significant effect on 
our reported results and require subjective or complex judgments is contained in the notes to the consolidated financial statements in the 
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended October 2, 2005.  

   

Inventories were as follows (amounts in thousands):  
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1. PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION 

2. INVENTORIES 

     

October 2, 
 

2005    
July 2,  
2006 

Raw Materials     $ 14,219    $ 21,607 
Work in Progress       26,274      42,230 
Finished Goods       15,424      19,158 

              

   $ 55,917    $ 82,995 
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Goodwill and other intangible assets, net, were as follows (amounts in thousands):  
   

The increase in goodwill and other intangible assets, net, between October 2, 2005 and July 2, 2006 related to the acquisition of Advanced 
Power Technology, Inc. which is further described in Note 12.  

   

In Broomfield, Colorado, the owner of a property located adjacent to a manufacturing facility owned by Microsemi Corp.—Colorado (“the 
Subsidiary”) had notified the subsidiary and other parties, of a claim that contaminants migrated to his property, thereby diminishing its value. 
In August 1995, the subsidiary, together with Coors Porcelain Company, FMC Corporation and Siemens Microelectronics, Inc. (former owners 
of the manufacturing facility), agreed to settle the claim and to indemnify the owner of the adjacent property for remediation costs. Although 
TCE and other contaminants previously used by former owners at the facility are present in soil and groundwater on the subsidiary’s property, 
we vigorously contest any assertion that the subsidiary caused the contamination. In November 1998, we signed an agreement with the three 
former owners of this facility whereby they have 1) reimbursed us for $530,000 of past costs, 2) assumed responsibility for 90% of all future 
clean-up costs, and 3) promised to indemnify and protect us against any and all third-party claims relating to the contamination of the facility. 
An Integrated Corrective Action Plan was submitted to the State of Colorado. Sampling and management plans were prepared for the Colorado 
Department of Public Health & Environment. State and local agencies in Colorado are reviewing current data and considering study and 
cleanup options. The most recent forecast estimated that the total project cost, up to the year 2020, would be approximately $5,300,000; 
accordingly, by assuming that this amount is accurate and that the indemnifying parties will pay 90% of this amount as agreed without need for 
us to incur material costs to enforce that agreement, we reserved for this contingency by recording a one-time charge of $530,000 for the life of 
this project in fiscal year 2003. There has not been any significant development since September 28, 2003.  

We are involved in other normal litigation matters, arising out of the ordinary routine conduct of our business, including from time to time 
litigation relating to commercial transactions, contracts, and environmental matters. In the opinion of management, the final outcome of these 
matters will not have a material adverse effect on our financial position, results of operations or cash flows.  

   

Comprehensive income is defined as the change in equity (net assets) of a business enterprise during the period from transactions and other 
events and circumstances from non-owner sources. Our comprehensive income consists of net income and the change of the cumulative foreign 
currency translation adjustment. Accumulated other comprehensive loss consists of the cumulative foreign currency translation adjustment.  
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3. GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS, NET 

     

October 2, 
 

2005    
July 2,  
2006 

Goodwill     $ 3,258    $ 54,058 
              

Other intangible assets, net        

Completed technology       4,211      41,930 
Customer relationships       171      3,317 
Backlog       —        1,692 
Other       111      67 

              

Other intangible assets, net     $ 4,493    $ 47,006 
              

4. CONTINGENCY 

5. COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
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Total comprehensive income for the quarters and nine months ended July 3, 2005 and July 2, 2006 were calculated as follows (amounts in 
000’s):  
   

   

Basic earnings per share have been computed based upon the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the respective 
periods. Diluted earnings per share have been computed, when the result is dilutive, using the treasury stock method for stock options 
outstanding during the respective periods.  

Earnings per share (“EPS”) for the respective quarters and nine months ended July 3, 2005 and July 2, 2006 were calculated as follows 
(amounts in thousands, except per share data):  
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     Quarters Ended    Nine Months Ended 

     
July 3,  
2005    

July 2, 
 

2006    
July 3,  
2005    

July 2,  
2006 

Net income     $ 9,751    $ 117    $ 21,063    $ 27,553 
Translation adjustment       —        25      —        32 

                            

Comprehensive income     $ 9,751    $ 142    $ 21,063    $ 27,585 
                            

6. EARNINGS PER SHARE 

     Quarters Ended    Nine Months Ended 

     
July 3,  
2005    

July 2,  
2006    

July 3,  
2005    

July 2,  
2006 

BASIC              

Net income     $ 9,751    $ 117    $ 21,063    $ 27,553 
                            

Weighted-average common shares outstanding for basic       62,013      69,397      61,193      68,569 
                            

Basic earnings per share     $ 0.16    $ 0.00    $ 0.34    $ 0.40 
                            

DILUTED              

Net income     $ 9,751    $ 117    $ 21,063    $ 27,553 
                            

Weighted-average common shares outstanding for basic       62,013      69,397      61,193      68,569 
Dilutive effect of stock options       3,684      2,609      3,566      3,152 

                            

Weighted-average common shares outstanding on a diluted basis       65,697      72,006      64,759      71,721 
                            

Diluted earnings per share     $ 0.15    $ 0.00    $ 0.33    $ 0.38 
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In the third quarter of fiscal years 2005 and 2006, approximately 8,000 and 604,000 options, respectively, were excluded in the computation of 
diluted EPS and in the first nine months of fiscal years 2005 and 2006, approximately 65,000 and 248,000 options, respectively, were excluded 
in the computation of diluted EPS, as in each period, these options would have been anti-dilutive.  

   

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 151  

In November 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued FAS No. 151, “Inventory costs, an amendment of ARB No. 43 Chapter 
4”. This Statement amends the guidance in ARB No. 43, Chapter 4, “Inventory Pricing,” to clarify the accounting for abnormal amounts of idle 
facility expense, freight, handling costs, and wasted material (spoilage). It requires that those items be recognized as current-period charges 
regardless of whether they meet the criteria in the earlier guidance of “so abnormal”. In addition, this Statement requires that allocation of fixed 
production overheads to the costs of conversion be based on the normal capacity of the production facilities. The provisions of this statement 
shall be applied prospectively for inventory costs incurred during fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2005 (our fiscal year 2006). The 
adoption of this statement did not have a material impact on our results of operations, financial position or cash flow.  

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123 (revised 2004)  

In December 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued a revision of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123, 
“Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation” (“FAS 123R”). FAS 123R supersedes APB Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to 
Employees,” and its related implementation guidance and eliminates the alternative to use Opinion 25’s intrinsic value method of accounting 
that was provided in Statement 123 as originally issued. Under Opinion 25, issuing stock options to employees generally resulted in recognition 
of no compensation cost. FAS 123R requires entities to recognize the cost of employee services received in exchange for awards of equity 
instruments based on the grant-date fair value of those awards (with limited exceptions). On March 29, 2005, the SEC issued Staff Accounting 
Bulletin 107 (“SAB 107”) which expresses the views of the SEC regarding the interaction between FAS 123R and certain SEC rules and 
regulations and provides the SEC’s views regarding the valuation of share-based payment arrangements for public companies. In particular, 
SAB 107 provides guidance related to share-based payment transactions with non-employees, the transition from nonpublic to public entity 
status, valuation methods (including assumptions such as expected volatility and expected term), the accounting for certain redeemable 
financial instrument issues under share-based payment arrangements, the classification of compensation expense, non-GAAP financial 
measures, first-time adoption of FAS 123R in an interim period, capitalization of compensation costs related to share-based payment 
arrangements, the accounting for income tax effects of share-based payments arrangements upon adoption of FAS 123R, the modification of 
employee share options prior to adoption of FAS 123R, and disclosures in Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and 
Results of Operations subsequent to adoption of FAS 123R. We adopted FAS 123R in the first quarter of fiscal year 2006. As a result, we 
recorded $322,000 and $1,039,000 of compensation expense, net of tax, in the quarter and nine months ended July 2, 2006. The future effects 
may be higher but are currently not estimable.  

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 153  

In December 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued FAS No. 153, “Exchanges of Nonmonetary Assets – an amendment of 
APB Opinion No. 29”. The guidance in APB Opinion No. 29, Accounting for Nonmonetary Transactions, is based on the principle that 
exchanges of nonmonetary assets should be measured based on the fair value of the assets exchanged. The guidance in that Opinion, however, 
included certain exceptions to that principle. This Statement amends Opinion 29 to eliminate the exception for nonmonetary exchanges of 
similar productive assets and replaces it with a general exception for exchanges of nonmonetary assets that do not have commercial substance. 
A nonmonetary exchange has commercial substance only if the future cash flows of the entity are expected to change significantly as a result of 
the exchange. This statement is effective for nonmonetary asset exchanges occurring in fiscal periods beginning after June 15, 2005. The 
adoption of this statement did not have a material impact on our results of operations, financial position or cash flow.  
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7. RECENTLY ADOPTED ACCOUNTING ANNOUNCEMENTS 
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FASB Staff Position No. FAS 109-1 and FASB Staff Position No. FAS 109-2  

In December 2004, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position No. FAS 109-1 “Application of FASB Statement No. 109, ‘Accounting for Income 
Taxes’, to the Tax Deduction on Qualified Production Activities by the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004” (“FSP FAS No. 109-1”) and 
FASB Staff Position No. 109-2, “Accounting and Disclosure Guidance for the Foreign Earnings Repatriation Provision within the American 
Jobs Creations Act of 2004” (“FSP FAS No. 109-2”). The American Jobs Creation Act of 2004 (“AJCA”) provides several incentives for U.S. 
multinational corporations and U.S. manufacturers, subject to certain limitations. The incentives include an 85% dividends received deduction 
for certain dividends from controlled foreign corporations that repatriate accumulated income abroad, and a deduction for domestic qualified 
production activities taxable income. The adoptions of FSP FAS 109-1 and FSP 109-2 did not have a material impact on our consolidated 
financial position, results of operations or cash flows.  

   

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 154  

In June 2005, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued FAS No. 154, “Accounting Changes and Error Corrections – a replacement of 
APB Opinion No. 20 and FASB Statement No. 3” (“FAS 154”). This Statement generally requires retrospective application to prior periods’ 
financial statements of changes in accounting principle. Previously, Opinion No. 20 required that most voluntary changes in accounting 
principle were recognized by including the cumulative effect of changing to the new accounting principle in net income of the period of the 
change. FAS 154 applies to all voluntary changes in accounting principle. It also applies to changes required by an accounting pronouncement 
in the unusual instance that the pronouncement does not include specific transition provisions. When a pronouncement includes specific 
transition provisions, those provisions should be followed. This Statement shall be effective for accounting changes and corrections of errors 
made in fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2005 (our fiscal year 2007). We do not expect the adoption of this statement will have a 
material impact on our results of operations, financial position or cash flow.  

FASB Interpretation No. 48  

In June 2006, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 48 (FIN 48), Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes. FIN 48 prescribes detailed 
guidance for the financial statement recognition, measurement and disclosure of uncertain tax positions recognized in an enterprise’s financial 
statements in accordance with FASB Statement No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes. Tax positions must meet a more-likely-than-not 
recognition threshold at the effective date to be recognized upon the adoption of FIN 48 and in subsequent periods. FIN 48 will be effective for 
fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2006 (our fiscal year 2008) and the provisions of FIN 48 will be applied to all tax positions under 
Statement No. 109 upon initial adoption. The cumulative effect of applying the provisions of this interpretation will be reported as an 
adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings for that fiscal year. The Company is currently evaluating the potential impact of FIN 48 
on its consolidated financial statements.  

Emerging Issues Task Force EITF 06-3  

In June 2006, the Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) issued EITF 06-3, “How Taxes Collected from Customers and Remitted to 
Governmental Authorities Should Be Presented in the Income Statement (That Is, Gross versus Net Presentation)” to clarify diversity in 
practice on the presentation of different types of taxes in the financial statements. The Task Force concluded that, for taxes within the scope of 
the issue, a company may adopt a policy of presenting taxes either gross within revenue or net. That is, it may include charges to customers for 
taxes within revenues and the charge for the taxes from the taxing authority within cost of sales, or, alternatively, it may net the charge to the 
customer and the charge from the taxing authority. If taxes subject to EITF 06-3 are significant, a company is required to disclose its 
accounting policy for presenting taxes and the amounts of such taxes that are recognized on a gross basis. The guidance in this consensus is 
effective for the first interim reporting period beginning after December 15, 2006 (the second quarter of our fiscal year 2007). We do not 
expect the adoption of EITF 06-3 will have a material impact on our results of operations, financial position or cash flow.  
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8. RECENTLY ISSUED ACCOUNTING STANDARDS 
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In December 1986, the Board of Directors adopted an incentive stock option plan (the “1987 Plan”), as amended, which reserved 3,400,000 
shares of common stock for issuance. The 1987 Plan was approved by the stockholders in February 1987 and amended in February 1994, and is 
for the purpose of securing for us and our stockholders the benefits arising from stock ownership by selected officers, directors and other key 
executives and certain key employees. The plan provides for the grant by the Company of stock options, stock appreciation rights, shares of 
common stock or cash. As of July 2, 2006, we have granted only options under the 1987 Plan. Options granted prior to February 22, 2006, must 
be exercised within ten years from the date they are granted, subject to early termination upon death or cessation of employment, and are 
exercisable in installments determined by the Board of Directors. Options granted on or after February 22, 2006, have the same terms as those 
granted prior to February 22, 2006, with the exception that they must be exercised within six years from the date they are granted. If an 
employee owns more than 10% of the total combined voting power of all classes of our stock, the exercise period is limited to five years and 
the exercise price is 10% higher than the closing price on the grant date. It is our policy to satisfy the exercise of employee stock options with 
newly issued shares of common stock.  

At the annual meeting on February 29, 2000, the stockholders approved several amendments to the 1987 Plan which: 1) extended its 
termination date to December 15, 2009; 2) increased initially by 1,060,800 the number of shares available for grants; 3) effected annual 
increases on the first day of each fiscal year of the number of shares available for grant in increments of 4% of our issued and outstanding 
shares of common stock; and 4) added flexibility by permitting discretionary grants to non-employee directors and other non-employees. At 
July 2, 2006, there were 2,930,000 shares available for grant under the Plan.  

Beginning in fiscal year 2006, we adopted FAS 123R on a modified prospective transition method to account for our employee stock options. 
Under the modified prospective transition method, fair value of new and previously granted but unvested stock options are recognized as 
compensation expense in the income statement, and prior period results are not restated. In the quarter and nine months ended July 2, 2006, 
operating income decreased by $501,000 and $1,579,000, respectively, net income decreased by $473,000 and $1,145,000, respectively. For 
the quarter ended July 2, 2006, basic and diluted earnings per share were each reduced by $0.01. For the nine months ended July 2, 2006, basic 
and diluted earnings per share were each reduced by $0.02.  

Compensation expense for the quarter and nine months ended July 2, 2006 for stock options granted and converted during the quarter was 
calculated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following weighted-average assumptions:  
   

Expected term was estimated based on historical exercise data that was stratified between members of the Board of Directors, executive and 
non-executive employees. Expected volatility was estimated based on historical volatility using equally weighted daily price observations over 
a period approximately equal to the expected life of each option. The risk free interest rate is based on the implied yield currently available on 
U.S. Treasury securities with an equivalent remaining term. Additionally, no dividends are expected to be paid.  

In connection with the acquisition of Advanced Power Technology, Inc. (“APT”) in April 2006, 568,363 options were converted from existing 
APT options into Microsemi options (see Note 12). These options were assigned a weighted average expected term of 1.2 years, weighted 
average volatility of 31.6%, and weighted average risk free rate of 4.9%.  
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9. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION 

     July 2, 2006   

     

Quarter 
 

Ended     

Nine Months 
 

Ended   

Risk free interest rate     5.0 %   4.9 % 
Expected dividend yield     None     None   
Expected life (years)     1.8     2.0   
Expected volatility     35.3 %   40.3 % 
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For the nine months ended July 2, 2006, the company granted 60,000 options to members of the Board of Directors which immediately vest 
and expire six years from the date of grant. A further 532,665 were granted to employees, of which 100,200 vest annually in equal amounts 
over a four year period and expire ten years from the date of grant and 432,465 vest annually in equal amounts over a three year period and 
expire six years from the date of grant. Finally, in connection with the acquisition of APT in April 2006, 568,363 options were converted from 
APT options into Microsemi options (see Note 12). These converted options maintained the same vesting and expiration dates as the initial 
APT options while strike price was adjusted by the conversion ratio of one APT option to approximately 0.51 Microsemi options. Options 
granted and converted in the quarter and nine months ended July 2, 2006 had a weighted-average grant date fair value of $10.32 and $11.15, 
respectively. Options granted and converted in the quarter and nine months ended July 2, 2006 had a fair value of $10,294,000 and 
$12,946,000, respectively. Options granted in the quarter and nine months ended July 3, 2005 had a weighted-average grant date fair value of 
$8.71 and $10.41, respectively. Options granted in quarter and nine months ended July 2, 2006 had a fair value of $749,000 and $4,018,000, 
respectively.  

The total intrinsic value of options exercised during the nine months ended July 2, 2006 was approximately $52,520,000. At July 2, 2006, 
unamortized compensation expense related to unvested options, net of forfeitures, was approximately $4,717,000. The weighted average period 
over which compensation expense related to these options will be recognized is 3.0 years.  

A summary of stock option activity, vesting and price information is as follows:  
   

The estimated fair value of stock options granted in the quarter and nine months ended July 2, 2005 was calculated on the date of grant using 
the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following weighted-average assumptions:  
   

At July 2, 2006, the intrinsic value and average remaining life were $99,234,000 and 7.8 years for outstanding options and $98,394,000 and 7.9 
years for vested options.  

Prior to our adoption of FAS 123R, Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation” (FAS 
123) provided an alternative to APB 25 in accounting for stock-based compensation issued to employees. FAS 123 provided for a fair value 
based method of accounting for employee stock options and similar equity instruments. However, companies that continued to account  
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Stock  

Options     

Weighted-
 

Average  
Exercise  

Price 

Outstanding at October 2, 2005     12,080,655     $ 14.11 
Granted     1,161,028       22.79 
Exercised     (2,625,243 )     8.22 
Forfeited     (64,687 )     23.17 

     
  

      

Outstanding at July 2, 2006     10,551,753     $ 16.47 
     

  

      

Vested     9,970,605     $ 15.91 
Unvested     581,148     $ 26.08 

     July 3, 2005   

     

Quarter 
 

Ended     

Nine Months 
 

Ended   

Risk free interest rate     3.8 %   4.0 % 
Expected dividend yield     None     None   
Expected life (years)     5.0     5.0   
Expected volatility     86.0 %   87.4 % 
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for stock-based compensation arrangements under APB 25 were required by FAS 123 to disclose, in the notes to financial statements, the pro 
forma effects on net income and net income per share as if the fair value based method prescribed by FAS 123 had been applied. Prior to our 
adoption of FAS 123R, we accounted for stock-based compensation using the provisions of APB 25 and presented the pro forma information 
required by FAS 123 as amended by Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation-
Transition and Disclosure” (FAS 148).  

The following table illustrates the effect on net income and earnings per share as if the fair value based method had been applied to all 
outstanding awards for the quarter and nine months ended July 3, 2005 (amounts in thousands, except earnings per share):  
   

In August 2005, we announced that we would accelerate the vesting of certain unvested stock options, previously awarded to eligible 
participants under our 1987 Stock Plan, as amended. Upon our planned adoption of FASB Statement No. 123R, “Share-Based Payment,” 
effective for fiscal year 2006, vesting of unvested options would have added to our compensation expense. Therefore, we accelerated vesting 
into fiscal year 2005 before the new accounting rule took effect. We restrict sales of any shares acquired upon the exercise of accelerated 
options (except as necessary to cover the exercise price and satisfy taxes) until the dates on which such options would have vested under their 
original vesting schedules.  

As a result of this vesting acceleration, options to purchase approximately 5,148,000 shares of common stock became vested and exercisable on 
September 21, 2005, including approximately 1,324,000 options granted to executive officers. The intrinsic value of the accelerated options 
was approximately $76,903,000, of which $20,431,000 related to options held by executive officers. Compensation expense that would have 
been recorded absent the accelerated vesting was approximately $35,746,000, of which approximately $13,169,000 would have been recorded 
in fiscal year 2006.  

In the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2005, we recorded a $5,463,000 non-cash compensation charge as a result of the accelerated vesting related 
for the excess of the intrinsic value over the fair market value of the Company’s stock on the acceleration date of those options that would have 
been forfeited had the vesting not been accelerated. In determining the forfeiture rates, the Company reviewed the impact of divisions that were 
previously sold or consolidated, one-time events that are not expected to recur and whether options were held by executive officers of the 
Company. The compensation charge will be adjusted in future periods as actual forfeitures are realized. In the quarter ended April 2, 2006, we 
recorded a credit of $1,065,000 as an adjustment to the original charge based on an revised forfeiture rate estimate.  
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     July 3, 2005   

     
Quarter  
Ended     

Nine months 
 

Ended   

Net income, as reported     $ 9,751     $ 21,063   
Deduct: Total stock-based employee compensation expense determined under fair value based method for all 

awards, net of related tax effects       (2,555 )     (7,594 ) 
       

  
      

  

Pro forma net income     $ 7,196     $ 13,469   
       

  

      

  

Earnings per share:       

Basic - as reported     $ 0.16     $ 0.34   
       

  

      

  

Basic - pro forma     $ 0.12     $ 0.22   
       

  

      

  

Diluted - as reported     $ 0.15     $ 0.33   
       

  

      

  

Diluted - pro forma     $ 0.11     $ 0.21   
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We manage our business on the basis of one reportable segment, as a manufacturer of semiconductors in different geographic areas, including 
the United States, Europe and Asia.  

We derive revenue from sales of our high performance analog/mixed signal integrated circuits and power and high reliability individual 
component semiconductors. These products include individual components as well as integrated circuit solutions that enhance customer 
designs by improving performance, reliability and battery optimization, reducing size or protecting circuits. The principal markets that we serve 
include medical, defense/aerospace, notebook computers, monitors and LCD TVs, automotive and mobile connectivity applications. We 
evaluate direct OEM sales by end-market based on our understanding of end market uses of our products and sales by channel.  

Net sales by the originating geographic area, end market and long lived assets by geographic area are as follows (amounts in thousands):  
   

   

Phase I  

In 2001, we commenced our Capacity Optimization Enhancement Program (the “Plan”) to increase company-wide capacity utilization and 
operating efficiencies through consolidations and realignments of operations.  

We started phase 1 of the Plan in fiscal year 2001, which included (a) the closure of most of our operations in Watertown, Massachusetts 
(“Watertown”) and relocation of those operations to other  
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10. SEGMENT INFORMATION 

     Quarter Ended    Nine Months Ended 

     
July 3,  
2005    

July 2,  
2006    

July 3,  
2005    

July 2,  
2006 

Net Sales:              

United States     $ 64,934    $ 86,971    $ 190,200    $ 234,417 
Europe       9,098      11,915      25,270      28,910 
Asia       1,182      1,335      2,816      3,906 

                            

Total     $ 75,214    $ 100,221    $ 218,286    $ 267,233 
                            

Commercial Air / Space     $ 16,675    $ 20,846    $ 45,185    $ 58,424 
Defense       24,475      33,574      72,689      85,181 
Industrial / Semicap       6,107      14,332      18,118      28,361 
Medical       10,440      9,922      26,631      28,961 
Mobile / Connectivity       5,716      7,817      17,245      22,347 
Notebook / LCD TVs / Display       11,801      13,730      38,418      43,959 

                            

Total     $ 75,214    $ 100,221    $ 218,286    $ 267,233 
                            

               
October 2, 

2005    
July 2,  
2006 

Long lived assets:              

United States           $ 56,547    $ 65,062 
Europe             860      1,428 
Asia             959      970 

                    

Total           $ 58,366    $ 67,460 
                    

11. RESTRUCTURING CHARGES AND ASSET IMPAIRMENTS 
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Microsemi operations in Lawrence and Lowell, Massachusetts (“Lawrence” and “Lowell”) and Scottsdale, Arizona (“Scottsdale”) and (b) the 
closure of the Melrose, Massachusetts operations and relocation of those operations to Lawrence. This phase was completed as of October 2, 
2005.  

Phase II  

In October 2003, we announced the consolidation of our operations in Santa Ana, California (“Santa Ana”) into operations in Garden Grove, 
California (“Garden Grove”) and Scottsdale, Arizona (“Scottsdale”). Santa Ana had approximately 380 employees and occupied 123,000 
square feet in two facilities, including 93,000 square feet in owned facilities and 30,000 square feet in facilities that are leased by us from a 
third party under a 30-year capital lease. Santa Ana accounted for approximately 13% of our net sales in fiscal year 2004. In the fourth quarter 
of fiscal 2004, Scottsdale began to ship all products that had previously been shipped by Santa Ana.  

Restructuring-related costs have been and will be recorded in accordance with FAS 112, “ Employers’ Accounting for Postemployment Benefits 
(“FAS 112”) or FAS 146, “Accounting for the Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities” (“FAS 146”), as appropriate. The severance 
payments totaled approximately $4.5 million and covered approximately 350 employees, including 55 management positions. Approximately 
30 employees have been transferred to other Microsemi operations. In fiscal year 2006, we recorded an additional $765,000 for other 
restructuring related expenses, primarily for environmental compliance reports, facility restoration, and relocation of equipment and reversed 
$54,000 in severance expense, in accordance with FAS 146. We have not incurred any material charge for cancellations of operating leases. 
Any other change of estimate will be recognized as an adjustment to the accrued liabilities in the period of change. Production in Santa Ana 
ceased in the third quarter of fiscal year 2005.  

The following table reflects the activities related to the consolidation of Santa Ana and the accrued liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets 
at the dates below (amounts in thousands):  
   

In the second quarter of fiscal year 2004, we started to consolidate the remainder of our Watertown operations. We moved production to our 
operations in Scottsdale and Lowell. Restructuring-related costs were recorded in accordance with FAS 112 or FAS 146, as appropriate. 
Severance payments totaled $372,000 and covered approximately 30 employees, including 4 management positions. The consolidation of the 
Watertown operations was completed in December 2004.  
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Employee 
 

Severance     

Other  
Related 

 
Costs     Total   

Balance at September 26, 2004     $ 3,869     $ —       $ 3,869   
Provisions       207       408       615   
Reduction of benefits       (837 )     —         (837 ) 
Cash expenditures       (2,986 )     (408 )     (3,394 ) 

       
  

      
  

      
  

Balance at October 2, 2005     $ 253     $ —       $ 253   
Provisions       —         765       765   
Cash expenditures       (199 )     (765 )     (964 ) 
Reversal of prior provision       (54 )     —         (54 ) 

       
  

      
  

      
  

Balance at July 2, 2006     $ —       $ —       $ —     
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The following table reflects the activities of the final phase of the consolidation in Watertown and the liabilities included in accrued liabilities 
in the consolidated balance sheets at the dates below (amounts in thousands):  
   

In the first quarter of fiscal year 2005, we recorded $267,000 of severance for 22 employees at our operations in Broomfield, Colorado 
(“Broomfield”), including 1 management position, in accordance with FAS 112. This severance amount was paid by the end of the third 
quarter of fiscal year 2005.  

Phase III  

In July 2005, we announced 1) the consolidation of operations in Broomfield, Colorado into other Microsemi facilities and 2) the closure of the 
manufacturing operations of Microsemi Corp.-Ireland (“Ireland”).  

There has been no impairment charge required in accordance with FAS 144 ( Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived 
Assets ). We currently do not expect any material impairment charge. Other consolidation associated costs such as inventory, workforce 
reduction, relocation and reorganization charges have been and will be reported, when incurred, as restructuring costs in accordance with FAS 
146 ( Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities ), FAS 112 or FAS 151 ( Inventory Costs—an amendment of ARB 
No. 43, Chapter 4 ), as applicable.  

Broomfield has approximately 150 employees and occupies a 130,000 square foot owned facility. Broomfield accounted for approximately 9% 
and 5% of our net sales in the first nine months of fiscal years 2005 and 2006, respectively. In the second quarter of fiscal year 2005, we 
recorded estimated severance payments of $1,134,000 in accordance with FAS 112. The severance payments cover approximately 148 
employees, including 14 management positions. Severance payments commenced in the second quarter of fiscal year 2006. In fiscal year 2006, 
we recorded $1,226,000 for other restructuring related expenses, primarily for travel, planning and equipment relocation, in accordance with 
FAS 146.  

The following table reflects the activities related to the consolidation of Broomfield and the accrued liabilities in the consolidated balance 
sheets at the date below (amounts in thousands):  
   

Ireland has approximately 70 manufacturing employees and occupies a 62,500 square foot owned facility. Ireland accounted for approximately 
2% and 1% of our net sales in the first nine months of fiscal years  
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Employee 
 

Severance     

Other  
Related 

 
Costs     Total   

Balance at September 26, 2004     $ 461     $ —       $ 461   
Provisions       15       100       115   
Reversal of prior provision       (104 )     —         (104 ) 
Cash expenditures       (372 )     (100 )     (472 ) 

       
  

      
  

      
  

Balance at October 2, 2005     $ —       $ —       $ —     
       

  

      

  

      

  

     

Employee 
 

Severance     

Other  
Related  
Costs     Total   

Provisions     $ 1,134     $ 977     $ 2,111   
Cash expenditures       —         (977 )     (977 ) 

       
  

      
  

      
  

Balance at October 2, 2005       1,134       —         1,134   
Provisions       —         1,226       1,226   
Cash expenditures       (183 )     (1,226 )     (1,409 ) 

       
  

      
  

      
  

Balance at July 2, 2006     $ 951     $ —       $ 951   
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2005 and 2006, respectively. In the second quarter of fiscal year 2005, we recorded estimated severance payments of $1,405,000, in accordance 
with FAS 112. The severance payments cover approximately 46 employees, including 5 management positions. Severance payments 
commenced in the second quarter of fiscal year 2006. In fiscal year 2006, we recorded an additional $150,000 in severance costs and $77,000 
in other restructuring expenses, in accordance with FAS 146.  

The following table reflects the activities related to the consolidation of Ireland and the accrued liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets at 
the dates below (amounts in thousands):  
   

In February 2006, Advanced Power Technology, Inc. (“APT”) announced the planned closure of its facility in Montgomeryville, Pennsylvania 
and the relocation of remaining manufacturing activities to its Santa Clara, California facility. Microsemi acquired APT, which was renamed 
Microsemi Power Products Group (“PPG”), in April 2006 (see Note 12) and determined that the fair value of the restructuring liability at the 
time of acquisition was $182,000. We did not substantially modify the restructuring plan subsequent to the acquisition. Subsequent to the 
acquisition, we recorded an additional $134,000 in employee severance in accordance with FAS 146 and paid $67,000 in severance.  

In the nine months ended July 2, 2006, restructuring charges of $2,298,000 included expenses related to the consolidations in Santa Ana, 
Broomfield, Ireland and PPG were as follows (amounts in thousands):  
   

   

On November 2, 2005, we entered into a definitive Agreement and Plan of Merger with Advanced Power Technology, Inc., a Delaware 
corporation (“APT”), and APT Acquisition Corp., a Delaware corporation that is a wholly owned subsidiary of Microsemi, which was 
subsequently amended on July 25, 2006 by the Amendment No. 1 to Agreement and Plan of Merger (as so amended, the “Merger 
Agreement”). The Merger Agreement provides for a merger of our wholly-owned subsidiary with and into APT with APT surviving the merger 
as a wholly owned subsidiary of Microsemi. We believe that the merger will create a more diverse semiconductor company and provide us 
with an expanded product portfolio of analog and mixed-signal products, including radio frequency products, as well as high reliability 
products to address the needs of the defense/aerospace and medical markets, which represent key factors that resulted in us recording goodwill. 
We completed the acquisition of APT on April 28, 2006 and results of operations of APT have been included in the accompanying financial 
statements since the date the acquisition. APT was renamed Microsemi Corp. – Power Products Group (“PPG”) upon the completion of the 
acquisition.  
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Employee 
 

Severance     

Other  
Related 

 
Costs     Total   

Provisions     $ 1,405     $ 100     $ 1,505   
Cash expenditures       —         —         —     

       
  

      
  

      
  

Balance at October 2, 2005       1,405       100       1,505   
Provisions       150       77       227   
Cash expenditures       (372 )     (77 )     (449 ) 

       
  

      
  

      
  

Balance at July 2, 2006     $ 1,183     $ 100     $ 1,283   
       

  

      

  

      

  

     

Santa 
 

Ana     Broomfield    Ireland    PPG    Total 

Severance expense     $ (54 )   $ —      $ 150    $ 134    $ 230 
Other consolidation related expenses       765       1,226      77      —        2,068 

       
  

                           

Total     $ 711     $ 1,226    $ 227    $ 134    $ 2,298 
       

  

                           

12. ACQUISITION 
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The total estimated purchase price is as follows (amounts in thousands):  
   

The estimated purchase price has been allocated based on the estimated fair values of assets acquired and liabilities assumed. The final 
valuation of net assets is expected to be completed shortly, but no later than one year from the acquisition date in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles. Management’s estimate of the purchase price allocation is as follows (amounts in thousands):  
   

Other intangible assets and their useful lives are as follows (amounts in thousands):  
   

Identification and allocation of value to the identified intangible assets was based on the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting 
Standard No. 141, “Business Combinations,” (“FAS 141”). The fair value of the identified intangible assets was estimated by performing a 
discounted cash flow analysis using the “income” approach. This method includes a forecast of direct revenues and costs associated with the 
respective intangible assets and charges for economic returns on tangible and intangible assets utilized in cash flow generation. Net cash flows 
attributable to the identified intangible assets were discounted to their present value at a rate commensurate with the perceived risk. The 
projected cash flow assumptions considered contractual relationships, customer attrition, eventual development of new technologies and market 
competition.  

The estimates of expected useful lives are based on guidance from FAS 141. The useful lives of completed technologies rights are based on the 
number of years in which net cash flows have been projected. The useful lives of customer relationships are estimated based upon the length of 
the relationships currently in place, historical attrition patterns and natural growth and diversification of other potential customers. The useful 
lives of backlog are estimated based upon the fulfillment period.  
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Cash consideration to APT stockholders     $ 22,508 
Fair value of 4,895 Microsemi shares issued to APT stockholders       114,005 
Fair value of vested APT stock options assumed by Microsemi       5,952 
Estimated direct transaction fees and expenses       3,756 

       

Total consideration     $ 146,221 
       

Cash and cash equivalents     $ 1,768   
Short term investments       16,950   
Accounts receivable, net       9,548   
Inventories       18,144   
Other current assets       1,217   
Property and equipment, net       10,238   
Goodwill       50,800   
Other intangible assets       44,360   
In-process research & development       15,300   
Other assets       59   
Accounts payable       (4,165 ) 
Accrued liabilities       (3,009 ) 
Deferred income taxes       (14,989 ) 

       
  

   $ 146,221   
       

  

     
Asset  

Amount    

Useful Life 
 

(Years) 

Completed technology     $ 39,080    8 
Customer relationships       3,250    8 
Backlog       2,030    1 

          

   $ 44,360    
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Assumptions used in forecasting cash flows for each of the identified intangible assets included consideration of the following:  
   

   

   

   

   

   

   

The acquired goodwill is not deductible for tax purposes.  

In-process research and development (IPR&D) represents the present value of the estimated after-tax cash flows expected to be generated by 
purchased technologies that, as of the acquisition dates, had not yet reached technological feasibility. Accordingly, the $15,300,000 
preliminarily allocated to IPR&D was immediately expensed. This amount was not deductible for tax purposes which has impacted our 
effective tax rate for the three and nine months ended July 2, 2006.  

IPR&D relates to four projects which include: 1) the development and adoption of silicon carbide (SiC) technology in the manufacture of high 
power switching and RF power transistors targeted for the high reliability defense and aerospace markets initially with applications in radar and 
military communications; 2) the development of the MOS 8 line of MOSFET products for switching applications which will improve 
performance and reliability and reduce manufacturing costs; 3) the development of VDMOS products for high frequency communications, 
MRI applications and plasma processing; and 4) S-band products operating in the 2.7-3.1 GHz range for RF applications. In the valuation of 
the IPR&D, the value of the IPR&D was based on the successful completion of these technologies coupled with the development of APT’s 
high power switching, RF transistor and other products. Completion of all IPR&D projects is expected within the first half of our fiscal year 
2007. The IPR&D projects were valued through the application of discounted cash flow analyses, taking into account key characteristics of the 
each technology including its future prospects, the rate of technological change in the industry, product life cycles, risks specific to the project, 
and the project’s stage of completion.  

The following pro forma data summarizes the results of operations for the periods ended July 3, 2005 and July 3, 2006 as if the merger had 
been completed on September 27, 2004. These unaudited pro forma data have been prepared for informational purposes only and do not 
purport to represent what the results of operations would have been had the acquisition occurred as of the dates indicated, nor of future results 
of operations. These unaudited pro forma data report actual operating results, adjusted to include the pro forma effect of, among others, 
elimination of sales and cost of sales between APT and Microsemi, manufacturing profit in ending inventory, exclusion of non-recurring 
acquisition-related IPR&D charge, amortization expense of identified intangible assets, stock option compensation from converted APT 
options, foregone interest income and the related tax effect of these items (amounts in thousands, except per share data):  
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  •   Historical performance including sales and profitability. 

  •   Business prospects and industry expectations. 

  •   Estimated economic life of asset. 

  •   Development of new technologies. 

  •   Acquisition of new customers. 

  •   Attrition of existing customers. 

  •   Obsolescence of technology over time. 

     Quarter Ended    Nine-Months 

     
July 3,  
2005    

July 2,  
2006    

July 3,  
2005    

July 2,  
2006 

Net sales     $ 89,925    $ 103,910    $ 262,808    $ 308,737 
Net income     $ 8,332    $ 13,531    $ 9,273    $ 39,276 
Earnings per share              

Basic     $ 0.12    $ 0.19    $ 0.14    $ 0.56 
Diluted     $ 0.12    $ 0.19    $ 0.13    $ 0.53 



Table of Contents  

Overview  

This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q includes current beliefs, expectations and other forward looking statements, the realization of which may 
be adversely impacted by any of the factors discussed or referenced under the heading “Important Factors Related to Forward-Looking 
Statements and Associated Risks,” found in this section or in the section entitled “Risk Factors” in this report, which should be read in 
conjunction with the section entitled “Risk Factors” in our Annual Report on Form 10-K. This “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of 
Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and the accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements and notes should be read in 
conjunction with the “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and the consolidated financial 
statements and notes thereto in the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended October 2, 2005.  

Microsemi is a leading designer, manufacturer and marketer of high performance analog and mixed-signal integrated circuits and high 
reliability semiconductors. Our semiconductors manage and control or regulate power, protect against transient voltage spikes and transmit, 
receive and amplify signals.  

Our products include individual components as well as integrated circuit solutions that enhance customer designs by improving performance, 
reliability and battery optimization, reducing size or protecting circuits.  

We currently serve a broad group of customers with none of our customers accounting for more than 10% of our revenue in the first nine 
months of fiscal years 2005 or 2006. We also serve a variety of end markets, which we generally classify as follows:  
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Item 2. MANAGEMENT ’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AN D RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 

  

•   Defense – We offer a broad selection of products including mixed signal analog integrated circuits, JAN, JANTX, JANTXV and 
JANS high-reliability discrete semiconductors and modules including diodes, zeners, diode arrays, transient voltage suppressors, 
bipolar transistors, MOSFETs, IGBTs, small signal analog integrated circuits, small signal transistors, and SCRs. These products are 
utilized in a variety of applications including radar and communications, targeting and fire control and other power conversion and 
related systems in military platforms. 

  

•   Commercial Air / Space – Our commercial air/Space products include offerings such as JAN, JANTX, JANTXV and JANS high-
reliability discrete semiconductors and modules, analog mixed signal products including diodes, zeners, diode arrays, transient 
voltage suppressors, bipolar transistors, small signal analog integrated circuits, small signal transistors, SCRs, MOSFETs and 
IGBTs. These products are utilized in a variety of applications including commercial air electronic applications for large aircraft and 
regional jets, commercial radar and communications, satellites, cockpit electronics, and other power conversion and related systems 
in space and aerospace platforms. 

  
•   Industrial / Semicap – Products in this category include MOSFETs, IGBTs, power modules, bridge rectifiers and high voltage 

assemblies for use primarily in industrial equipment and semiconductor capital equipment. 

  
•   Medical – Our medical products, which include zener diodes, high voltage diodes, MOSFETs, IGBTs, transient voltage suppressors 

and thyristor surge protection devices, are designed into implantable defibrillators, pacemakers and neurostimulators. We are also a 
supplier of PIN diode switches, dual diode modules, and SMPS products for use in magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) systems. 

  

•   Mobile / Connectivity – Our mobile connectivity products include broadband power amplifiers and monolithic microwave integrated 
circuits (MMIC) targeted at 802.11 a/b/g/n/e, multiple-in multiple-out (“MIMO”), wi-max wireless LAN devices and related 
equipment. Products also include a variety of DC-DC products, such as voltage regulators, PWM controllers, and LED drivers that 
are sold into the portable device set top box, and telecom applications. 
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Capacity Optimization Enhancement Program  

Phase I  

In 2001, we commenced our Capacity Optimization Enhancement Program (the “Plan”) to increase company-wide capacity utilization and 
operating efficiencies through consolidations and realignments of operations.  

We started phase 1 of the Plan in fiscal year 2001, which included (a) the closure of most of our operations in Watertown, Massachusetts 
(“Watertown”) and relocation of those operations to other Microsemi operations in Lawrence and Lowell, Massachusetts (“Lawrence” and 
“Lowell”) and Scottsdale, Arizona (“Scottsdale”) and (b) the closure of the Melrose, Massachusetts operations and relocation of those 
operations to Lawrence. This phase was completed as of October 2, 2005.  

Phase II  

In October 2003, we announced the consolidation of our operations in Santa Ana, California (“Santa Ana”) into operations in Garden Grove, 
California (“Garden Grove”) and Scottsdale, Arizona (“Scottsdale”). Santa Ana had approximately 380 employees and occupied 123,000 
square feet in two facilities, including 93,000 square feet in owned facilities and 30,000 square feet in facilities that are leased by us from a 
third party under a 30-year capital lease. Santa Ana accounted for approximately 13% of our net sales in fiscal year 2004. In the fourth quarter 
of fiscal 2004, Scottsdale began to ship all products that had previously been shipped by Santa Ana.  

Restructuring-related costs have been and will be recorded in accordance with FAS 112, “ Employers’ Accounting for Postemployment Benefits 
(“FAS 112”) or FAS 146, “Accounting for the Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities” (“FAS 146”), as appropriate. The severance 
payments totaled approximately $4.5 million and covered approximately 350 employees, including 55 management positions. Approximately 
30 employees have been transferred to other Microsemi operations. In fiscal year 2006, we recorded an additional $0.8 million for other 
restructuring related expenses, primarily for relocation of equipment, environmental compliance reports and facility restoration in accordance 
with FAS 146. We have not incurred any material charge for cancellations of operating leases. Any other change of estimate will be recognized 
as an adjustment to the accrued liabilities in the period of change. Production in Santa Ana ceased in the third quarter of fiscal year 2005.  
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•   Notebooks/ LCD TV/ Displays – Products in this market are used in notebook computers, monitors, storage devices, and LCD 
televisions, and include cold cathode fluorescent lamp (CCFL) controllers, LED drivers, visible light sensors, pulse width modulator 
controllers, voltage regulators, EMI/RFI filters, transient voltage suppressors, sensors for auto-dimming rear view mirrors and class-
D audio circuits. 
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The following table reflects the activities related to the consolidation of Santa Ana and the accrued liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets 
at the dates below (amounts in thousands):  
   

We own a substantial portion of the plant and the real estate it occupies in Santa Ana, California, and we expect to offer the owned property for 
sale at the prevailing market price which is expected to exceed book value.  

In the second quarter of fiscal year 2004, we started to consolidate the remainder of our Watertown operations. We moved production to our 
operations in Scottsdale and Lowell. Restructuring-related costs were recorded in accordance with FAS 112 or FAS 146, as appropriate. 
Severance payments totaled $0.4 million and covered approximately 30 employees, including 4 management positions. The consolidation of 
the Watertown operations was completed in December 2004.  

The following table reflects the activities of the final phase of the consolidation in Watertown and the liabilities included in accrued liabilities 
in the consolidated balance sheets at the dates below (amounts in thousands):  
   

In the first quarter of fiscal year 2005, we recorded $0.3 million of severance for 22 employees at our operations in Broomfield, Colorado 
(“Broomfield”), including 1 management position, in accordance with FAS 112. This severance amount was paid by the end of the third 
quarter of fiscal year 2005.  

Phase III  

In July 2005, we announced 1) the consolidation of operations in Broomfield, Colorado into other Microsemi facilities and 2) the closure of the 
manufacturing operations of Microsemi Corp.-Ireland (“Ireland”).  

There has been no impairment charge required in accordance with FAS 144 ( Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived 
Assets ). We currently do not expect any material impairment  
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Employee 
 

Severance     

Other  
Related 

 
Costs     Total   

Balance at September 26, 2004     $ 3,869     $ —       $ 3,869   
Provisions       207       408       615   
Reduction of benefits       (837 )     —         (837 ) 
Cash expenditures       (2,986 )     (408 )     (3,394 ) 

       
  

      
  

      
  

Balance at October 2, 2005     $ 253     $ —       $ 253   
Provisions       —         765       765   
Cash expenditures       (199 )     (765 )     (964 ) 
Reversal of prior provision       (54 )     —         (54 ) 

       
  

      
  

      
  

Balance at July 2, 2006     $ —       $ —       $ —     
       

  

      

  

      

  

     

Employee 
 

Severance     

Other  
Related 

 
Costs     Total   

Balance at September 26, 2004     $ 461     $ —       $ 461   
Provisions       15       100       115   
Reversal of prior provision       (104 )     —         (104 ) 
Cash expenditures       (372 )     (100 )     (472 ) 

       
  

      
  

      
  

Balance at October 2, 2005     $ —       $ —       $ —     
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charge. Other consolidation associated costs such as inventory, workforce reduction, relocation and reorganization charges have been and will 
be reported, when incurred, as restructuring costs in accordance with FAS 146 ( Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal 
Activities ), FAS 112 or FAS 151 ( Inventory Costs—an amendment of ARB No. 43, Chapter 4 ), as applicable.  

Broomfield has approximately 150 employees and occupies a 130,000 square foot owned facility. Broomfield accounted for approximately 9% 
and 5% of our net sales in the first nine months of fiscal years 2005 and 2006, respectively. In the second quarter of fiscal year 2005, we 
recorded estimated severance payments of $1,134,000 in accordance with FAS 112. The severance payments cover approximately 148 
employees, including 14 management positions. Severance payments commenced in the second quarter of fiscal year 2006. In fiscal year 2006, 
we recorded $1.2 million for other restructuring related expenses, primarily for travel, planning and equipment relocation, in accordance with 
FAS 146.  

The consolidation of Broomfield is expected to result, subsequent to its completion, in annual cost savings of $5.0 million to $7.0 million from 
the elimination of redundant facilities and related expenses and employee reductions.  

The following table reflects the activities related to the consolidation of Broomfield and the accrued liabilities in the consolidated balance 
sheets at the date below (amounts in thousands):  
   

Ireland has approximately 70 manufacturing employees and occupies a 62,500 square foot owned facility. Ireland accounted for approximately 
2% and 1% of our net sales in the first nine months of fiscal years 2005 and 2006, respectively. In the second quarter of fiscal year 2005, we 
recorded estimated severance payments of $1.4 million, in accordance with FAS 112. The severance payments cover approximately 46 
employees, including 5 management positions. Severance payments commenced in the second quarter of fiscal year 2006. In fiscal year 2006, 
we recorded an additional $0.2 million in severance costs and $0.1 million in other restructuring expenses, in accordance with FAS 146.  

The closure of the manufacturing operations in Ireland is expected to result, subsequent to its completion, in annual cost savings of $1.0 million 
to $3.0 million from the elimination of redundant facilities and related expenses and employee reductions.  
   

25  

     

Employee 
 

Severance     

Other  
Related  
Costs     Total   

Provisions     $ 1,134     $ 977     $ 2,111   
Cash expenditures       —         (977 )     (977 ) 

       
  

      
  

      
  

Balance at October 2, 2005       1,134       —         1,134   
Provisions       —         1,226       1,226   
Cash expenditures       (183 )     (1,226 )     (1,409 ) 

       
  

      
  

      
  

Balance at July 2, 2006     $ 951     $ —       $ 951   
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The following table reflects the activities related to the consolidation of Ireland and the accrued liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets at 
the dates below (amounts in thousands):  
   

In February 2006, Advanced Power Technology, Inc. (“APT”) announced the planned closure of its facility in Montgomeryville, Pennsylvania 
and the relocation of remaining manufacturing activities to its Santa Clara, California facility. Microsemi acquired APT, which was renamed 
Microsemi Power Products Group (“PPG”), in April 2006 (see Note 12) and determined that the fair value of the restructuring liability at the 
time of acquisition was $0.2 million. We did not substantially modify the restructuring plan subsequent to the acquisition. Subsequent to the 
acquisition, we recorded an additional $0.1 million in employee severance in accordance with FAS 146 and paid $67,000 in severance.  

Key Reporting Unit Metrics  

In order to manage our manufacturing capacity for current requirements and anticipated future growth of our business and to assess the 
performance of our industry segment, we review factory utilization, headcount and overhead expenses at each of our manufacturing locations. 
The table below sets forth metrics at these locations:  
   

Wafer fabrication utilization provides an indication of available capacity and is utilized to determine items such as production allocation, 
headcount needs and capital expenditure requirements. Wafer fabrication is a significant process in our operations and is measured based on 
utilization on a 7 day, 24 hour basis. Increases in utilization at our manufacturing locations from 2005 YTD to 2006 YTD reflect higher 
production levels to meet increasing orders and the results of the consolidation activities related to our Capacity Optimization Enhancement 
Program. Currently, we do not anticipate the need to increase capital expenditures beyond historical levels to accommodate growth of our 
business. Though our Garden Grove facility is currently at 90% utilization, we do not anticipate a need to increase the capacity due to the fact 
that all future high performance analog mixed signal product traditionally designed for this facility are being designed to be produced by 
outside foundries.  

Headcount is used to measure our ability to meet current demand and anticipated growth as well as assimilating new acquisitions. It is also 
used to forecast manufacturing spending. Increases in headcount at our Scottsdale and Lawrence facilities reflect higher personnel requirements 
following the relocations of product lines of closed facilities to these locations.  

Overhead expenses have a material impact on our operating profits. It is also significantly impacted by our decisions made in response to the 
review of the other factors above. Operating expense is reviewed to  
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Employee 
 

Severance     

Other  
Related 

 
Costs     Total   

Provisions     $ 1,405     $ 100     $ 1,505   
Cash expenditures       —         —         —     

       
  

      
  

      
  

Balance at October 2, 2005       1,405       100       1,505   
Provisions       150       77       227   
Cash expenditures       (372 )     (77 )     (449 ) 

       
  

      
  

      
  

Balance at July 2, 2006     $ 1,183     $ 100     $ 1,283   
       

  

      

  

      

  

     

Wafer  
Fabrication  
Utilization     Headcount    Overhead Expense 

     

2005 
 

YTD     

2006 
 

YTD     

2005 
 

YTD    

2006 
 

YTD    
2005  
YTD    

2006  
YTD 

Garden Grove     70 %   90 %   238    250    $ 26,355    $ 28,904 
Lawrence     35 %   35 %   356    403    $ 14,235    $ 16,111 
Lowell     50 %   55 %   110    110    $ 5,094    $ 5,432 
Scottsdale     45 %   55 %   324    511    $ 13,115    $ 18,214 
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assure that we achieve anticipated savings or do not exceed our expected expenditures. It also affects our management of available cash for 
operating activities. The increases in overhead expense from 2005 YTD to 2006 YTD at these facilities reflect the additional cost from the 
consolidation of Santa Ana, increased sales and to a lesser extent, costs from initial consolidation activities from Colorado.  

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS FOR THE QUARTER ENDED JULY 3, 2005 COMPARED TO THE QUARTER ENDED JULY 2, 
2006.  

Net sales increased $25.0 million or 33% from $75.2 million for the third quarter of fiscal year 2005 (“Q3 2005”) to $100.2 million for the 
third quarter of fiscal year 2006 (“Q3 2006”). Sales by end markets are based on our understanding of end market uses of our products. An 
estimated breakout of net sales by end markets for Q3 2005 and Q3 2006 is as follows (amounts in thousands):  
   

Sales in the commercial air / space end market increased $4.1 million from $16.7 million in Q3 2005 to $20.8 million in Q3 2006. The increase 
was driven by strong demand for commercial aircraft in Asia and in North America by low cost carriers driving increased order rates from 
aircraft manufacturers. Additionally, demand for commercial satellites and radar systems are particularly robust with the APT acquisition 
contributing $2.0 million in sales to this end market. We continue to expect strong growth in this end market.  

Sales in the defense end market increased $9.1 million from $24.5 million in Q3 2005 to $33.6 million in Q3 2006. This increase was driven 
primarily by higher defense spending. Other factors contributing to the increase in revenues are favorable contract negotiations, product mix 
shift towards higher reliability components which generally have higher selling prices, strategic price positioning in certain product lines and 
$4.4 million in sales due to the APT acquisition. Based on a forecasted increase in the Department of Defense budget and growth in 
international markets for defense related products, the business in this end market should remain solid.  

Sales in the industrial / semicap market increased $8.2 million from $6.1 million in Q3 2005 to $14.3 million in Q3 2006, due largely to the 
acquisition of APT with its switching products for semiconductor capital equipment markets. Other areas of growth are in solar inverters, 
inductive heating, welding applications and switch mode power supplies.  

Sales in the medical end market decreased $0.5 million, from $10.4 million in Q3 2005 to $9.9 million in Q3 2006. Sales in our MRI business 
are strong but were offset by a slowdown during the quarter in our implantable medical device business due to implantable cardiac defibrillator 
product recalls. Increasing functionality and device integration in the implantable medical devices such as defibrillators and pacemakers has 
resulted in increases in both dollar and unit content per device. While the implantable medical device business slowed in the quarter, based on 
our bookings, we expect the implantable medical business to strengthen in upcoming quarters.  

Sales in the mobile / connectivity end market increased $2.1 million, from $5.7 million in Q3 2005 to $7.8 million in Q3 2006. Sales in this end 
market have grown in the last four quarters due to market acceptance of new power amplifier introductions. We have successfully transitioned 
into our fourth generation of 2.4 and 5 gigahertz power amplifiers for the 802.11a/b/g and n markets. Future applications that Microsemi’s 
products in this market will address are multiple-in-multiple-out and wi-max. This market had growth due to additional products addressing set 
top box and some telecommunication applications using switching and DC-DC products. We continue to expect growth in this market and have 
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     Q3 2005    Q3 2006 

Commercial Air / Space     $ 16,675    $ 20,846 
Defense       24,475      33,574 
Industrial / Semicap       6,107      14,332 
Medical       10,440      9,922 
Mobile / Connectivity       5,716      7,817 
Notebook / LCD TVs / Display       11,801      13,730 

              

   $ 75,214    $ 100,221 
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product offerings that will lead to design-ins for upcoming wi-max and high power wireless LAN opportunities.  

Sales in the notebook computer, monitor and LCD television end market increased $1.9 million, from $11.8 million in Q3 2005 to $13.7 
million in Q3 2006. This increase was due primarily to higher shipments of our lighting product solutions to notebook computer and LCD 
television manufacturers as well as devices for storage applications. We have noted that the LCD television market continues to gain 
momentum in the 21” and greater display size where our products are strongly positioned. Additionally, we have seen significant growth in 
generic lighting displays, particularly in point of sale terminals.  

On July 27, 2006, we announced that for the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2006, we expect our net sales will increase between 7% and 9% 
sequentially. We expect that the strong demand for our products for defense/aerospace, notebooks, monitors, and LCD televisions will continue 
during fiscal year 2006.  

Gross profit increased $9.8 million, from $33.7 million (44.8% of sales) for Q3 2005 to $43.5 million (43.4% of sales) for Q3 2006. The 
improvement in gross profit was favorably affected by: 1) improved factory utilization from our consolidations; 2) increased sales and 3) 
higher margin products and partially offset by 1) our newly acquired Microsemi Power Products Group which has had a historically lower 
margin than Microsemi and 2) higher transitional idle capacity and inventory abandonments. Costs of sales included $1.3 million and $4.2 
million related to transitional idle capacity and inventory abandonments in Q3 2005 and Q3 2006, respectively. The $2.9 million increase 
between Q3 2005 and Q3 2006 was due to the different stages of restructuring activities between the two quarters. In Q3 2006, we incurred 
substantial transition costs related to Phase III shutdown activities from Colorado. Transitional idle capacity and inventory abandonments 
resulted from our restructuring activities which involved the closure and consolidation of certain manufacturing facilities. Transitional idle 
capacity relates to unused manufacturing capacity and non-productive manufacturing expenses during the period from when shutdown 
activities commence to when a facility is closed. Inventory abandonments relate to identification and disposal of inventory that will not be 
utilized after a product line is transferred to a new manufacturing location as part of our consolidations program. Manufacturing profit in 
inventory acquired from the APT acquisition reduced gross margins by $2.7 million.  

Selling, general and administrative expenses decreased $1.5 million from $15.7 million for Q3 2005 and $14.2 million for Q3 2006. The 
decrease includes approximately $0.5 million of legal expenses, $0.8 million of lower expense for compliance with Section 404 of the 
Sarbanes-Oxley Act, $1.9 million of expenses related to employee benefits and $0.5 million of other expenses. The decrease was partially 
offset by the addition of approximately $2.2 million of expenses related to PPG operations from the date of acquisition.  

Research and development expense, excluding a $15.3 million charge for in-process research and development (“IPR&D”) in Q3 2006, 
increased $2.1 million from $4.6 million in Q3 2005 and $6.7 million in Q3 2006, primarily due to additional research and development 
expense incurred at Microsemi Power Products Group. IPR&D represents the present value of the estimated after-tax cash flows expected to be 
generated by purchased technologies that, as of the acquisition dates, had not yet reached technological feasibility, and was thus immediately 
expensed.  

Amortization expense of intangible assets increased $1.2 million from $0.2 million in Q3 2005 to $1.4 million in Q3 2006 from amortization 
expense on intangible assets acquired in the APT acquisition.  

We had higher cash and cash equivalents in Q3 2006 compared to Q3 2005; consequently, we had $0.8 million higher interest income in Q3 
2006 compared to Q3 2005.  

The effective tax rates were 30.0% for Q3 2005 and 98.1% for Q3 2006. The increase in tax rate was primarily due to the non-deductibility of 
the acquisition-related $15.3 million IPR&D charge.  
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS FOR THE NINE MONTHS ENDED JUL Y 3, 2005 COMPARED TO THE NINE MONTHS ENDED 
JULY 2, 2006.  

Net sales increased $48.9 million or 22% from $218.3 million for the first nine months of fiscal year 2005 (“2005 YTD”) to $267.2 million for 
the first nine months of fiscal year 2006 (“2006 YTD”). Sales by end markets are based on our understanding of end market uses of our 
products. An estimated breakout of net sales by end markets for 2005 YTD and 2006 YTD is as follows (amounts in thousands):  
   

Sales in the commercial air / space end market increased $13.2 million from $45.2 million in 2005 YTD to $58.4 million in 2006 YTD. The 
increase was driven by strong demand for commercial aircraft in Asia and in North America by low cost carriers driving increased order rates 
from aircraft manufacturers. Additionally, demand for commercial satellites and radar systems are particularly robust with the APT acquisition 
contributing $2.0 million in sales to this end market. We continue to expect strong growth in this end market.  

Sales in the defense end market increased $12.5 million from $72.7 million in 2005 YTD to $85.2 million in 2006 YTD. The increase was 
driven primarily by higher defense spending. Other factors contributing to the increase in revenues are favorable contract negotiations, product 
mix shift towards higher reliability components which generally have higher selling prices, strategic price positioning in certain product lines 
and $4.4 million in sales due to the APT acquisition. Based on a forecasted increase in the Department of Defense budget and growth in 
international markets for defense related products, the business in this end market should remain solid.  

Sales in the industrial / semicap market increased $10.3 million from $18.1 million in 2005 YTD to $28.4 million in 2006 YTD, due largely to 
the acquisition of APT with its switching products for semiconductor capital equipment markets. Other areas of growth are in solar inverters, 
inductive heating, welding applications and switch mode power supplies.  

Sales in the medical end market increased $2.4 million, from $26.6 million in 2005 YTD to $29.0 million in 2006 YTD. Sales are up slightly 
driven by strength in our MRI business. The implantable medical device business has slowed the past two quarters primarily due to implantable 
cardiac defibrillator product recalls. Increasing functionality and device integration in the implantable medical devices such as defibrillators 
and pacemakers has resulted in increases in both dollar and unit content per device. While the implantable medical device business slowed in 
the period, based on our bookings, we expect the implantable medical business to strengthen in upcoming quarters.  

Sales in the mobile connectivity end market increased $5.1 million, from $17.2 million in 2005 YTD to $22.3 million in 2006 YTD. Sales in 
this end market have grown in the last four quarters due to market acceptance of new power amplifier introductions. We have successfully 
transitioned into our fourth generation of 2.4 and 5 gigahertz power amplifiers for the 802.11a/b/g and n markets. Future applications that 
Microsemi’s products in this market will address are multiple-in-multiple-out (“MIMO”) and wi-max. This market had growth due to 
additional products addressing set top box and telecommunication market applications using switching and DC-DC products. We continue to 
expect growth in this market and have product offerings that will lead to design-ins for upcoming wi-max and high power wireless LAN 
opportunities.  

Sales in the notebook computer, monitor and LCD television end market increased $5.6 million, from $38.4 million in 2005 YTD to $44.0 
million in 2006 YTD. This increase was due primarily to higher shipments of our lighting product solutions to notebook computer and LCD 
television manufacturers as  
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     2005 YTD    2006 YTD 

Commercial Air / Space     $ 45,185    $ 58,424 
Defense       72,689      85,181 
Industrial / Semicap       18,118      28,361 
Medical       26,631      28,961 
Mobile Connectivity       17,245      22,347 
Notebook/Monitor/LCD TVs       38,418      43,959 

              

   $ 218,286    $ 267,233 
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well as devices for storage applications. We have noted that the LCD television market continues to gain momentum in the 21” and greater 
display size where our products are strongly positioned. Additionally, we have seen significant growth in generic lighting displays, particularly 
in point of sale terminals.  

Gross profit increased $33.7 million, from $87.5 million (40.1% of sales) for 2005 YTD to $121.2 million (45.3% of sales) for 2006 YTD. The 
improvement in gross profit was favorably affected by: 1) improved factory utilization; 2) increased sales and 3) higher margin products. Costs 
of sales included $9.0 million and $10.9 million related to transitional idle capacity and inventory abandonments in 2005 YTD and 2006 YTD, 
respectively. Costs incurred in 2005 YTD substantially related to Phase II while costs incurred in 2006 YTD related to Phase III consolidation 
activities. Transitional idle capacity and inventory abandonments resulted from our restructuring activities which involved the closure and 
consolidation of certain manufacturing facilities. Transitional idle capacity relates to unused manufacturing capacity and non-productive 
manufacturing expenses during the period from when shutdown activities commence to when a facility is closed. Inventory abandonments 
relate to identification and disposal of inventory that will not be utilized after a product line is transferred to a new manufacturing location as 
part of our consolidations program. Manufacturing profit in inventory acquired from the APT acquisition reduced gross margins by $2.7 
million.  

Selling, general and administrative expenses increased $2.1 million, from $39.4 million for 2005 YTD to $41.5 million for 2006 YTD. The 
increase includes approximately $2.2 million of expenses for PPG operations from the date of acquisition and $0.4 million of higher IT-related 
expenses. The increase was partially offset by approximately $0.5 million lower expenses related to employee benefits.  

Research and development expense, excluding a $15.3 million charge for in-process research and development (“IPR&D”) in 2006 YTD, 
increased $2.2 million from $14.2 million in Q3 2005 and $16.4 million in Q3 2006, primarily due to additional research and development 
expense incurred at Microsemi Power Products Group. IPR&D represents the present value of the estimated after-tax cash flows expected to be 
generated by purchased technologies that, as of the acquisition dates, had not yet reached technological feasibility, and was thus immediately 
expensed.  

Amortization expense of intangible assets increased $1.1 million from $0.7 million in Q3 2005 to $1.8 million in Q3 2006 from amortization 
expense on intangible assets acquired in the APT acquisition.  

We had higher cash and cash equivalents in 2006 YTD compared to 2005 YTD; consequently, we had $2.4 million higher interest income in 
2006 YTD compared to 2005 YTD.  

The effective tax rates were 31.5% for 2005 YTD and 41.4% for 2006 YTD. The increase in tax rate was primarily due to the non-deductibility 
of the acquisition-related $15.3 million IPR&D charge.  

CAPITAL RESOURCES AND LIQUIDITY  

In 2006 YTD, we financed our operations with cash from operations.  

Net cash provided by operating activities increased $11.4 million from $27.0 million in 2005 YTD to $38.4 million in 2006 YTD. The increase 
in cash flow from operating activities was primarily a result of the increase in revenue and income, partially offset by the combined effect of 
non-cash items included in income or expense, such as accounts receivable, inventory, other assets, accounts payable and accrued liabilities. As 
required by FAS 123R, $9.2 million of excess tax benefit from stock option exercises is included in financing activities with a corresponding 
offset amount included in operating activities.  

Accounts receivable increased $14.8 million from $53.2 million at October 2, 2005 to $68.0 million at July 2, 2006. The increase in accounts 
receivable was due to higher sales in Q3 2006 compared with sales in the last quarter of fiscal year 2005 and accounts receivable at Power 
Products Group.  

Inventories increased $27.1 million from $55.9 million at October 2, 2005 to $83.0 million at July 2, 2006. The increase in inventories was 
primarily due to a planned ramp up of production at our Broomfield, Colorado facility to cover shipments during a bridge period in which 
production will be transferred from our  
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Broomfield, Colorado facility to our Scottsdale, Arizona and Lawrence, Massachusetts facilities and inventory at Power Products Group.  

Current liabilities increased $5.3 million from $42.4 million at October 2, 2005 to $47.7 million at July 2, 2006.  

Net current deferred income taxes were an asset of $12.9 million at October 2, 2005 to an asset of $9.6 million at July 2, 2006. Net non-current 
deferred income taxes were an asset of $8.1 million at October 2, 2005 and a liability of $3.2 million at July 2, 2006. The changes in current 
and non-current deferred income taxes were primarily due to the increase in non-deductible acquisition-related intangible assets.  

Net cash used in investing activities was $8.9 million and $12.8 million in 2005 YTD and 2006 YTD, respectively. Purchase of capital 
equipment was $8.9 million and $7.9 million in 2005 YTD and 2006 YTD, respectively. In 2006 YTD, we collected a $3.1 million note related 
to the sale of real property in Watertown, Massachusetts. Additionally, we paid $23.9 million in cash consideration and related costs, net of 
cash acquired, for the acquisition of APT. Subsequent to the acquisition, we sold $16.0 million in short term investments previously held by 
APT and invested the proceeds in cash equivalents.  

Net cash provided by financing activities was $13.9 million and $29.7 million in 2005 YTD and 2006 YTD, respectively. We recorded $14.5 
million and $20.7 million in 2005 YTD and 2006 YTD, respectively, from the exercise of employee stock options. As required by FAS123R, 
which we adopted in the first quarter of fiscal year 2006, we recorded $9.2 million for excess tax benefits from exercises of stock options in 
2006 YTD, respectively.  

We had $98.1 million and $153.5 million in cash and cash equivalents at October 2, 2005 and July 2, 2006, respectively.  

Current ratios were 5.2 to 1 and 6.7 to 1 at October 2, 2005 and July 2, 2006, respectively.  

We have a $30.0 million credit line with a bank, which expires in March 2008 and includes a facility to issue letters of credit. As of July 2, 
2006, $0.4 million was outstanding in the form of a letter of credit; consequently, $29.6 million was available under this credit facility.  

As of July 2, 2006, we were in compliance with the covenants required by our credit facility.  

The estimated cost to consolidate the Broomfield and Ireland plants will be between $6.0 million to $8.0 million and $3.0 million to $4.0 
million, respectively, with substantial expenditures expected in the current fiscal year. We anticipate that our cash and cash equivalents will be 
our primary source for paying such expenditures.  

As of July 2, 2006, we had no material commitments for capital expenditures.  

The following table summarizes our contractual payment obligations and commitments as of July 2, 2006:  
   

Based upon information currently available to us, we believe that we can meet our cash requirements and capital commitments in the 
foreseeable future with cash balances, internally generated funds from ongoing operations and, if necessary, from the available line of credit.  
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     Payments due by period (in 000’s)   

     Total    

Less  
than  

1 year     
1-3  

years     
3-5  

years    

More  
than  

5 years     
Imputed 
Interest   

Capital leases     $ 3,165    $ 292    $ 586    $ 586    $ 5,266    $ (3,565 ) 
Operating leases       13,939      3,918      6,070      3,951      —        —     
Purchase obligations       21,535      15,731      5,583      221      —        —     
Other long-term liabilities       766      108      132      132      394      —     

                                          
  

Total     $ 39,405    $ 20,049    $ 12,371    $ 4,890    $ 5,660    $ (3,566 ) 
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RECENTLY ADOPTED ACCOUNTING STANDARDS  

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 151  

In November 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued FAS No. 151, “Inventory costs, an amendment of ARB No. 43 Chapter 
4”. This Statement amends the guidance in ARB No. 43, Chapter 4, “Inventory Pricing,” to clarify the accounting for abnormal amounts of idle 
facility expense, freight, handling costs, and wasted material (spoilage). It requires that those items be recognized as current-period charges 
regardless of whether they meet the criteria in the earlier guidance of “so abnormal.” In addition, this Statement requires that allocation of fixed 
production overheads to the costs of conversion be based on the normal capacity of the production facilities. The provisions of this statement 
were applied prospectively for inventory costs incurred beginning in our fiscal year 2006. The adoption of this statement did not have a 
material impact on our results of operations, financial position or cash flow.  

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123 (revised 2004)  

In December 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued a revision of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123, 
“Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation” (“FAS 123R”). FAS 123R supersedes APB Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to 
Employees,” and its related implementation guidance and eliminates the alternative to use Opinion 25’s intrinsic value method of accounting 
that was provided in Statement 123 as originally issued. Under Opinion 25, issuing stock options to employees generally resulted in recognition 
of no compensation cost. FAS 123R requires entities to recognize the cost of employee services received in exchange for awards of equity 
instruments based on the grant-date fair value of those awards (with limited exceptions). On March 29, 2005, the SEC issued Staff Accounting 
Bulletin 107 (“SAB 107”) which expresses the views of the SEC regarding the interaction between FAS 123R and certain SEC rules and 
regulations and provides the SEC’s views regarding the valuation of share-based payment arrangements for public companies. In particular, 
SAB 107 provides guidance related to share-based payment transactions with non-employees, the transition from non-public to public entity 
status, valuation methods (including assumptions such as expected volatility and expected term), the accounting for certain redeemable 
financial instrument issues under share-based payment arrangements, the classification of compensation expense, non-GAAP financial 
measures, first-time adoption of FAS 123R in an interim period, capitalization of compensation costs related to share-based payment 
arrangements, the accounting for income tax effects of share-based payments arrangements upon adoption of FAS 123R, the modification of 
employee share options prior to adoption of FAS 123R, and disclosures in Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and 
Results of Operations subsequent to adoption of FAS 123R. We adopted FAS 123R in the first quarter of fiscal year 2006. As a result, we 
recorded $0.5 million and $1.1 million of compensation expense, net of tax, in the quarter and nine months ended July 2, 2006. The future 
effects may be higher but are currently not estimable.  

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 153  

In December 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued FAS No. 153, “Exchanges of Nonmonetary Assets – an amendment of 
APB Opinion No. 29”. The guidance in APB Opinion No. 29, Accounting for Nonmonetary Transactions, is based on the principle that 
exchanges of nonmonetary assets should be measured based on the fair value of the assets exchanged. The guidance in that Opinion, however, 
included certain exceptions to that principle. This Statement amends Opinion 29 to eliminate the exception for nonmonetary exchanges of 
similar productive assets and replaces it with a general exception for exchanges of nonmonetary assets that do not have commercial substance. 
A nonmonetary exchange has commercial substance only if the future cash flows of the entity are expected to change significantly as a result of 
the exchange. This statement was effective for nonmonetary asset exchanges that began in the four quarter of our fiscal year 2005). The 
adoption of this statement did not have a material impact on our results of operations, financial position or cash flow.  

FASB Staff Position No. FAS 109-1 and FASB Staff Position No. FAS 109-2  

In December 2004, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position No. FAS 109-1 “Application of FASB Statement No. 109, ‘Accounting for Income 
Taxes’, to the Tax Deduction on Qualified Production Activities by the  
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American Jobs Creation Act of 2004” (“FSP FAS No. 109-1”) and FASB Staff Position No. 109-2, “Accounting and Disclosure Guidance for 
the Foreign Earnings Repatriation Provision within the American Jobs Creations Act of 2004” (“FSP FAS No. 109-2”). The American Jobs 
Creation Act of 2004 (“AJCA”) provides several incentives for U.S. multinational corporations and U.S. manufacturers, subject to certain 
limitations. The incentives include an 85% dividends received deduction for certain dividends from controlled foreign corporations that 
repatriate accumulated income abroad, and a deduction for domestic qualified production activities taxable income. The adoptions of FSP FAS 
109-1 and FSP 109-2 did not have a material impact on our consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows.  

RECENTLY ISSUED ACCOUNTING STANDARDS  

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 154  

In June 2005, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued FAS No. 154, “Accounting Changes and Error Corrections – a replacement of 
APB Opinion No. 20 and FASB Statement No. 3”. This Statement generally requires retrospective application to prior periods’ financial 
statements of changes in accounting principle. Previously, Opinion No. 20 required that most voluntary changes in accounting principle were 
recognized by including the cumulative effect of changing to the new accounting principle in net income of the period of the change. FAS 154 
applies to all voluntary changes in accounting principle. It also applies to changes required by an accounting pronouncement in the unusual 
instance that the pronouncement does not include specific transition provisions. When a pronouncement includes specific transition provisions, 
those provisions should be followed. This Statement shall be effective for accounting changes and corrections of errors made in fiscal years 
beginning after December 15, 2005 (our fiscal year 2007). We do not expect the adoption of this statement will have a material impact on our 
results of operations, financial position or cash flow.  

FASB Interpretation No. 48  

In June 2006, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 48 (FIN 48), Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes. FIN 48 prescribes detailed 
guidance for the financial statement recognition, measurement and disclosure of uncertain tax positions recognized in an enterprise’s financial 
statements in accordance with FASB Statement No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes. Tax positions must meet a more-likely-than-not 
recognition threshold at the effective date to be recognized upon the adoption of FIN 48 and in subsequent periods. FIN 48 will be effective for 
fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2006 (our fiscal year 2008) and the provisions of FIN 48 will be applied to all tax positions under 
Statement No. 109 upon initial adoption. The cumulative effect of applying the provisions of this interpretation will be reported as an 
adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings for that fiscal year. The Company is currently evaluating the potential impact of FIN 48 
on its consolidated financial statements.  

Emerging Issues Task Force EITF 06-3  

In June 2006, the Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) issued EITF 06-3, “How Taxes Collected from Customers and Remitted to 
Governmental Authorities Should Be Presented in the Income Statement (That Is, Gross versus Net Presentation)” to clarify diversity in 
practice on the presentation of different types of taxes in the financial statements. The Task Force concluded that, for taxes within the scope of 
the issue, a company may adopt a policy of presenting taxes either gross within revenue or net. That is, it may include charges to customers for 
taxes within revenues and the charge for the taxes from the taxing authority within cost of sales, or, alternatively, it may net the charge to the 
customer and the charge from the taxing authority. If taxes subject to EITF 06-3 are significant, a company is required to disclose its 
accounting policy for presenting taxes and the amounts of such taxes that are recognized on a gross basis. The guidance in this consensus is 
effective for the first interim reporting period beginning after December 15, 2006 (the first quarter of our fiscal year 2008). We do not expect 
the adoption of EITF 06-3 will have a material impact on our results of operations, financial position or cash flow.  

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES  

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States that 
require us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the  
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reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and revenues and expenses during the periods 
reported. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Information with respect to our critical accounting policies which we believe could 
have the most significant effect on our reported results and require subjective or complex judgments is contained in Item 7, Management’s 
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended 
October 2, 2005.  

IMPORTANT FACTORS RELATED TO FORWARD -LOOKING STATEMENTS AND ASSOCIATED RISKS  

Some of the statements in this report or incorporated by reference are forward-looking, including, without limitation, the statements under the 
caption “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations”. Forward-looking statements include all 
those statements that contain words like “may,” “will,” “could,” “should,” “project,” “believe,” “anticipate,” “expect,” “plan,” “estimate,” 
“forecast,” “potential,” “intend,” “maintain,” “continue” and variations of these words or comparable words. In addition, all of the information 
herein that does not state an historical fact is forward-looking, including any statement or implication about an estimate or a judgment, an 
expectation as to a future time, future result or other future circumstance. For various reasons, actual results may differ substantially from the 
results that the forward-looking statements suggest. Therefore, forward-looking statements are not a guarantee of future performance and 
involve risks and uncertainties. These forward-looking statements are made only as of the date of this report. We do not undertake to update or 
revise the forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise.  

The forward-looking statements included in this report are based on, among other items, current assumptions that we will be able to meet our 
current operating cash and debt service requirements, that we will be able to successfully complete announced and to-be-announced plant 
consolidations on the anticipated schedules and without unanticipated costs or expenses, that we will continue to retain the full-time services of 
all of our present executive officers and key employees, that we will be able to successfully resolve any disputes and other business matters as 
anticipated, that competitive conditions within the analog, mixed signal and discrete semiconductor, integrated circuit or custom component 
assembly industries will not affect us adversely, that our customers will not cancel orders or terminate or renegotiate their purchasing 
relationships with us, that we will retain existing key personnel, that our forecasts will reasonably anticipate market demand for our products, 
and that there will be no other material adverse changes in our operations or business. Other factors that could cause results to vary materially 
from current expectations are referred to elsewhere in this report. Assumptions relating to the foregoing involve judgments that are difficult to 
make and future circumstances that are difficult to predict accurately or correctly. Forecasting and other management decisions are subjective 
in many respects and thus susceptible to interpretations and periodic revisions based on historic experience and business developments, the 
impact of which may cause us to alter our internal forecasts, which may in turn affect our subsequent expectations and our future results. We do 
not undertake to announce publicly the changes that may occur in our expectations. Readers are cautioned against giving undue weight to any 
of the forward-looking statements.  

Adverse changes to our results could result from any number of factors, including but not limited to fluctuations in economic conditions, 
potential effects of inflation, lack of earnings visibility, dependence upon certain customers or markets, dependence upon suppliers, future 
capital needs, rapid technological changes, difficulties in integrating acquired businesses, ability to realize cost savings or productivity gains, 
potential cost increases, dependence on key personnel, difficulties regarding hiring and retaining qualified personnel in a competitive labor 
market, risks of doing business in international markets, and problems of third parties upon whom we rely in our business or operations.  

The inclusion of forward-looking information should not be regarded as a representation by us or any other person that all of our estimates shall 
necessarily prove correct or that all of our objectives or plans shall necessarily be achieved.  
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Market risk is the potential loss arising from adverse changes in foreign currency exchange rates, interest rates, or the stock market. We are 
exposed to various market risks, which are related to changes in certain foreign currency exchange rates and changes in certain interest rates.  

We conduct business in a number of foreign currencies, principally those of Europe and Asia, directly or through our foreign operations. We 
may receive some revenues in foreign currencies and purchase some inventory and services in foreign currencies. Accordingly, we are exposed 
to transaction gains and losses that could result from changes in exchange rates of these foreign currencies relative to the U.S. dollar. 
Transactions in foreign currencies have represented a relatively small portion of our business and these currencies have been relatively stable 
against the U.S. dollar for the past several years. As a result, foreign currency fluctuations have not had a material impact historically on our 
revenues or results of operations. Nonetheless, foreign currency fluctuations relative to the U.S. dollar have tended to increase in recent years. 
There can be no assurance that those currencies will remain stable relative to the U.S. dollar or that future fluctuations in the value of foreign 
currencies will not have material adverse effects on our results of operations, cash flows or financial condition. Our largest foreign currency 
exposure results from activity in British Pounds and the European Union Euro. We have not conducted a foreign currency hedging program 
thus far. We have considered and may continue to consider the adoption of a foreign currency hedging program.  

We did not enter into derivative financial instruments and did not enter into any other financial instruments for trading or speculative purposes 
or to hedge exposure to interest rate risks. Our other financial instruments consist primarily of cash, accounts receivable, accounts payable and 
long-term obligations. Our exposure to market risk for changes in interest rates relates primarily to our short-term investments and short-term 
obligations. As a result, we do not expect fluctuations in interest rates to have a material impact on the fair value of these instruments. 
Accordingly, we have not engaged in transactions intended to hedge our exposure to changes in interest rates.  

We currently have a $30,000,000 revolving line of credit, which expires in March 2008. At July 2, 2006, $400,000 was utilized for a letter of 
credit; consequently, $29,600,000 was available under this line of credit. It bears interest at the bank’s prime rate plus 0.75% to 1.5% per 
annum or, at our option, at the Eurodollar rate plus 1.75% to 2.5% per annum. The interest rate is determined by the ratio of total funded debt 
to Earnings Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and Amortization (“EBITDA”). For instance, if we were to borrow presently the entire 
$30,000,000 from this credit line, a one-percent increase in the interest rate would result in an additional $300,000 of pre-tax interest expense 
annually. Market forces recently have been tending to increase short-term interest rates, although the prime rate and the Eurodollar rate move 
independently of the Federal Funds Rate. The ratio of funded debt to EBITDA also would increase as amounts are borrowed under the line of 
credit. These factors could have the effect of potentially increasing the effective interest rate on future incremental borrowings.  

   

(a) Evaluation of disclosure controls and procedures.  

Our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, with the assistance of other management, conducted an evaluation of our disclosure 
controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this Report. Based on this evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief 
Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures are effective.  

(b) Changes in internal control over financial reporting.  

During the first nine months of fiscal year 2006, there have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting that have materially 
affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.  
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PART II - OTHER INFORMATION  
   

In our most recent Form 10-K as filed with the SEC on December 16, 2005, we previously reported litigation in which we are involved, 
and no material changes in such litigation occurred during the fiscal period that is the subject of this Report on Form 10-Q.  

   

In addition to the risk factors described in Microsemi’s Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended October 2, 2005, Microsemi is subject to the 
following risks:  

The merger of Microsemi’s subsidiary with Advanced Power Technology, Inc, which has been renamed Microsemi Corp. – 
Power Products Group, may divert Microsemi’s management’s attention away from ongoing operations.  

The merger of Microsemi’s subsidiary with Advanced Power Technology, Inc. (“APT”), which was renamed Microsemi Corp. – Power 
Products Group upon the consummation of the merger (the “Power Products Group”), and the integration of Microsemi’s and the Power 
Product Group’s operations, products and personnel may place a significant burden on Microsemi’s management and internal resources. 
The diversion of management attention away from day-to-day business concerns and any difficulties encountered in the transition and 
integration process could harm Microsemi’s business, financial condition and operating results.  

Microsemi’s subsidiaries’ manufacturing processes are complex and specialized and will become more complex as a result of the 
acquisition of the Power Products Group; delays in resolving problems associated with transitions of processes between different 
facilities, or issues related to government or customer qualification of facilities or processes could adversely affect our 
manufacturing efficiencies and our ability to realize revenues or cost savings.  

The Microsemi consolidated group’s manufacturing efficiency will be an important factor in Microsemi’s future profitability, and 
Microsemi may be unsuccessful in its efforts to increase or may fail to maintain its manufacturing efficiency. Microsemi’s manufacturing 
processes are highly complex, require advanced and costly equipment and are sometimes modified in an effort to improve yields and 
product performance. From time to time Microsemi has experienced difficulty in transitions of manufacturing processes to different 
facilities or adopting new manufacturing processes. As a consequence, at times Microsemi has experienced delays in product deliveries 
and reduced yields. Every silicon wafer fabrication facility utilizes very precise processing, and processing difficulties and reduced yields 
commonly occur, and one of the major causes of these problems is contamination of the material. Reduced manufacturing yields can 
often result in manufacturing and shipping delays due to capacity constraints. Therefore, manufacturing problems can result in additional 
operating expense and delayed or lost revenues. In one instance which occurred in fiscal year 2005, Microsemi scrapped nonconforming 
inventory at a cost of approximately $1 million and experienced a delay of approximately two months in realizing approximately $1.5 
million of revenues. In an additional instance which occurred in fiscal year 2004, Microsemi encountered a manufacturing problem 
concerning contamination in a furnace that resulted in the quarantine of approximately 1 million units at a cost of approximately $2 
million. The identification and resolution of that manufacturing issue required four months of effort to investigate and resolve, which 
resulted in a concurrent delay in realizing approximately $2 million of revenues. Microsemi may experience manufacturing problems in 
achieving acceptable yields or experience product delivery delays in the future as a result of, among other things, upgrading existing 
facilities, relocating processes to different facilities, or changing its process technologies, any of which could result in a loss of future 
revenues or an increase in manufacturing costs.  

Reliance on government contractors for a substantial portion of Microsemi’s sales could have material adverse effects on results 
of operations.  
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Some of Microsemi’s sales are derived from customers whose principal sales are to the United States Government. If Microsemi 
experiences significant reductions or delays in procurements of its products by the United States Government or terminations of 
government contracts or subcontracts, its operating results could be materially and adversely affected. Generally, the United States 
Government and its contractors and subcontractors may terminate their contracts with Microsemi or its customers for cause or for 
convenience. In the past, Microsemi has experienced one termination of a contract due to the termination of the underlying government 
contracts. All government contracts are also subject to price renegotiation in accordance with U.S. Government Renegotiation Act. By 
reference to such contracts, all of the purchase orders Microsemi receives that are related to government contracts are subject to these 
possible events. There is no guarantee that Microsemi will not experience contract terminations or price renegotiations of government 
contracts in the future. Microsemi’s net sales to defense markets represented approximately 19% of net sales for fiscal years 2003 and 
2004 and approximately 20% of net sales for fiscal year 2005. Future sales are subject to the uncertainties of governmental appropriations 
and national defense policies and priorities. These sales are derived from direct and indirect business with the U.S. Department of 
Defense and other U.S. government agencies. From time to time, Microsemi has experienced declining defense-related sales, primarily as 
a result of contract award delays and reduced defense program funding. Defense spending is expected to decline overall in the future due 
to budgetary constraints. The effects of defense spending declines are difficult to estimate and subject to many sources of uncertainty. 
Microsemi’s prospects for future defense-related sales may be adversely affected in a material manner by numerous events or actions 
outside our control.  

Interruptions, delays or cost increases affecting Microsemi’s materials, parts, equipment or subcontractors may impair its 
competitive position.  

Microsemi’s manufacturing operations, and the outside manufacturing operations which it uses increasingly, depend upon obtaining, in 
some instances, a governmental qualification of the manufacturing process, and in all instances, adequate supplies of materials, parts and 
equipment, including silicon, mold compounds and lead frames, on a timely basis from third parties. Some of the outside manufacturing 
operations Microsemi uses are based in foreign countries. Microsemi’s results of operations could be adversely affected if it is unable to 
obtain adequate supplies of materials, parts and equipment in a timely manner or if the costs of materials, parts or equipment increase 
significantly. From time to time, suppliers may extend lead times, limit supplies or increase prices due to capacity constraints or other 
factors. Although Microsemi generally uses materials, parts and equipment available from multiple suppliers, it has a limited number of 
suppliers for some materials, parts and equipment. While Microsemi believes that alternate suppliers for these materials, parts and 
equipment are available, an interruption could adversely affect its operations. Some of Microsemi’s products are manufactured, 
assembled and tested by third-party subcontractors.  

Some of these contractors are based in foreign countries. Microsemi generally does not have any long-term agreements with these 
subcontractors. As a result, Microsemi may not have direct control over product delivery schedules or product quality. Outside 
manufacturers generally will have longer lead times for delivery of products as compared with our internal manufacturing, and therefore, 
when ordering from these suppliers, Microsemi will be required to make longer-term estimates of its customers’ current demand for 
products, and these estimates are difficult to make. Also, due to the amount of time typically required to qualify assemblers and testers, 
Microsemi could experience delays in the shipment of our products if it is forced to find alternate third parties to assemble or test its 
products. Any product delivery delays in the future could have material adverse effects on its operating results, financial condition and 
cash flows. Microsemi’s operations and ability to satisfy customer obligations could be adversely affected if its relationships with these 
subcontractors were disrupted or terminated.  

Microsemi depends on third-party subcontractors for wafer fabrication, assembly and packaging of an increasing portion of its products. 
Currently, Microsemi utilizes third-party subcontractors for approximately 30% of its assembly and packaging requirements and 13% of 
its wafer fabrication, and expects that these percentages will increase to as much as approximately 35% and 20%, respectively, in the 
current fiscal year. A limited group of subcontractors package its products and some of the raw materials included in its products are 
obtained from a limited group of suppliers. Disruption or termination of any of these sources could occur and such  
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disruptions or terminations could harm its business and operating results. In the event that any of its subcontractors were to experience 
financial, operational, production or quality assurance difficulties resulting in a reduction or interruption in supply to Microsemi, its 
operating results could suffer at least until alternate qualified subcontractors, if any, were to become available and active. Microsemi 
anticipates that many of its next-generation products may be manufactured by third-party subcontractors in Asia, and to the extent that 
such potential manufacturing relationships develop, they may be with a limited group of subcontractors. Although Microsemi seeks to 
reduce its dependence on sole or limited source suppliers, Microsemi and the Power Products Group currently use the same third-party 
subcontractors for not more than 10% of each company’s outside manufacturing. Therefore, any disruptions or terminations of 
manufacturing could materially harm the Microsemi consolidated group’s business and operating results. Also these subcontractors must 
be qualified by the U.S. Government or Microsemi’s customer for high-reliability processes. Historically the U.S. Government has rarely 
qualified any foreign manufacturing or assembly lines for reasons of national security; therefore, the Microsemi consolidated group’s 
ability to move certain manufacturing offshore may be limited or delayed.  

International operations and sales may expose Microsemi to material risks and may increase volatility to the Microsemi 
consolidated group’s operating results.  

Revenues from foreign markets represent a significant portion of Microsemi’s total revenues. Net sales to foreign customers represented 
approximately 28%, 33% and 33% of net sales for fiscal years 2003, 2004 and 2005, respectively. These sales were principally to 
customers in Europe and Asia. Foreign sales are classified as shipments to foreign destinations. Microsemi maintains facilities or 
contracts with entities in Korea, Japan, China, Ireland, Thailand, the Philippines, and Taiwan. There are risks inherent in doing business 
internationally, including:  

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

In addition, the laws of certain foreign countries may not protect Microsemi’s products, assets or intellectual property rights to the same 
extent as do U.S. laws. Therefore, the risk of piracy of Microsemi’s technology and products may be greater in those foreign countries. 
Microsemi may experience material adverse effects to its financial condition, operating results and cash flows in the future.  

Microsemi depends on the ability of its personnel, raw materials, equipment and products to move reasonably unimpeded around 
the world.  
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•   Legislative or regulatory requirements, including tax laws in the United States and in the countries in which Microsemi manufactures 

or sells its products; 

  •   Trade restrictions; 

  •   Transportation delays; 

  •   Communication interruptions; 

  •   Work stoppages, disruption of local labor supply and/or transportation services; 

  •   Economic and political instability; 

  
•   Political instability and acts of war or terrorism, which could disrupt the Microsemi consolidated group’s manufacturing and 

logistical activities; 

  •   Changes in import/export regulations, tariffs and freight rates; 

  •   Difficulties in collecting receivables and enforcing contracts generally; and 

  •   Currency controls and fluctuations, devaluation of foreign currencies, hard currencies shortages and exchange rate fluctuations. 
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Any political, military, world health (e.g., SARS or avian flu) or other issue that hinders the movement or restricts the import or export of 
materials or products could lead to significant business disruptions. Furthermore, any strike, economic failure or other material disruption 
on the part of major airlines or other transportation companies could also adversely affect Microsemi’s ability to conduct business. If such 
disruptions result in cancellations of customer orders or contribute to a general decrease in economic activity or corporate spending, or 
directly impact marketing, manufacturing, financial and logistics functions, Microsemi’s consolidated results of operations and financial 
condition could be materially adversely affected.  

   

Inapplicable  

   

Inapplicable  

   

Inapplicable  

   

None  
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Item 2. UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS 

Item 3. DEFAULTS UPON SENIOR SECURITIES 

Item 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS  

Item 5. OTHER INFORMATION 

Item 6. EXHIBITS 

2.6.1     

   

Amendment No. 1 to Agreement and Plan of Merger dated April 25, 2006 previously filed as Exhibit 2.6.1 to the Registrant’s 
Post-Effective Amendment No. 1 to Form S-4 (Reg. No. 333-130655) as filed on April 27, 2006 and incorporated herein by 
reference. 

10.85.10    Tenth Amendment dated as of June 1, 2006 to Credit Agreement dated as of April 2, 1999. Filed herewith. 

10.85.11    Eleventh Amendment dated as of June 28, 2006 to Credit Agreement dated as of April 2, 1999. Filed herewith. 

10.85.12    Twelfth Amendment dated as of July 14, 2006 to Credit Agreement dated as of April 2, 1999. Filed herewith. 

10.109.1 
   

Form of Notice of Stock Option Grant and Employee Stock Option Agreement from and after March 28, 2006. Previously filed 
as a like-numbered exhibit to the Registrant’s Form 8-K filed on April 3, 2006 and incorporated herein by reference. 

31              Certifications pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 13a-14(a) 

32              Certifications pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 13a-14(b) and 18 U.S.C. 1350 
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SIGNATURES  

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its 
behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.  
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      MICROSEMI CORPORATION 

DATED: August 11, 2006     By:   /s/ David R. Sonksen 

        

David R. Sonksen  
Executive Vice President and  
Chief Financial Officer  
(Principal Financial Officer and  
Chief Accounting Officer and duly  
authorized to sign on behalf of the  
Registrant)  
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Ex. No.    Exhibit Description  
2.6.1 

   

Amendment No. 1 to Agreement and Plan of Merger dated July 25, 2006 previously filed as Exhibit 2.6.1 to the Registrant’s 
Post-Effective Amendment No. 1 to Form S-4 (Reg. No. 333-130655) as filed on July 27, 2006 and incorporated herein by 
reference. 

10.85.10    Tenth Amendment dated as of June 1, 2006 to Credit Agreement dated as of April 2, 1999. Filed herewith. 

10.85.11    Eleventh Amendment dated as of June 28, 2006 to Credit Agreement dated as of April 2, 1999. Filed herewith. 

10.85.12    Twelfth Amendment dated as of July 14, 2006 to Credit Agreement dated as of April 2, 1999. Filed herewith. 

10.109.1 
   

Form of Notice of Stock Option Grant and Employee Stock Option Agreement from and after March 28, 2006. Previously filed 
as a like-numbered exhibit to the Registrant’s Form 8-K filed on April 3, 2006 and incorporated herein by reference. 

31           Certifications pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 13a-14(a) 

32           Certifications pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 13a-14(b) and 18 U.S.C. 1350 



EXHIBIT 10.85.10 

TENTH AMENDMENT  
TO  

CREDIT AGREEMENT  

Dated as of June 1, 2006  

This TENTH AMENDMENT TO CREDIT AGREEMENT (this “ Amendment ”) is among MICROSEMI CORPORATION , a 
Delaware corporation (the “ Borrower ”), the several financial institutions party to the Credit Agreement referred to below (collectively, the “ 
Lenders ”; individually, a “ Lender ”), and COMERICA BANK , as administrative agent for the Lenders (the “ Administrative Agent ”).  

PRELIMINARY STATEMENTS:  

(1) The Borrower, the Lenders and the Administrative Agent have entered into that certain Credit Agreement dated as of April 2, 1999, as 
amended by the First Amendment to Credit Agreement dated as of June 25, 1999, the Second Amendment to Credit Agreement dated as of 
February 14, 2000, the Third Amendment to Credit Agreement dated as of April 2, 2001, the Fourth Amendment to Credit Agreement dated as 
of May 25, 2002, the Fifth Amendment to Credit Agreement dated as of December 5, 2002, the Sixth Amendment to Credit Agreement dated 
as of December 10, 2003, the Seventh Amendment to Credit Agreement dated as of March 31, 2004, the Eighth Amendment to Credit 
Agreement dated as of March 31, 2004, and the Ninth Amendment to Credit Agreement dated as of March 29, 2005 (as so amended the “ 
Credit Agreement ”; capitalized terms used and not otherwise defined herein have the meanings assigned to such terms in the Credit 
Agreement).  

(2) The Borrower has requested that the Administrative Agent and the Lenders make certain amendments to the Credit Agreement.  

(3) The Administrative Agent and the Lenders are, on the terms and conditions stated below, willing to grant the request of the Borrower.  

NOW, THEREFORE in consideration of the premises and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of 
which are hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto hereby agree as follows:  

1. Amendments to Credit Agreement . Effective as of the date hereof and subject to the satisfaction of the conditions precedent set forth in 
Section 2 hereof, the Credit Agreement is hereby amended as follows:  

(a) The definition of the term “Stated Maturity Date” in Section 1.1 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended and restated in its 
entirety to read as follows:  

“ ‘ Stated Maturity Date ’ means March 31, 2008.”  

(b) Section 10.14 is amended entirely to read as follows:  

“10.14. Waiver of Jury Trial . THE AGENT, THE LENDERS, THE L/C ISSUER AND THE BORROWER ACKNOWLEDGE 
THAT THE RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY IS A CONSTITUTIONAL ONE, BUT THAT IT MAY BE WAIVED UNDER 
CERTAIN CIRCUMSTANCES. TO THE EXTENT PERMITTED BY LAW, EACH  



PARTY, AFTER CONSULTING (OR HAVING HAD THE OPPORTUNITY TO CONSULT) WITH COUNSEL OF ITS, HIS 
OR HER CHOICE, KNOWINGLY AND VOLUNTARILY, AND FOR THE MUTUAL BENEFIT OF ALL PARTIES, WAIVES 
ANY RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY IN THE EVENT OF LITIGATION ARISING OUT OF OR RELATED TO THIS 
AGREEMENT OR ANY OTHER DOCUMENT, INSTRUMENT OR AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE UNDERSIGNED 
PARTIES.”  

(c) Section 10.15 shall be added to the Agreement in the appropriate numerical context as follows:  

“Section 10.15. Judicial Reference Provision .  

(a) In the event the Jury Trial Waiver set forth above is not enforceable, the parties elect to proceed under this Judicial Reference 
Provision.  

(b) With the exception of the items specified in clause (c), below, any controversy, dispute or claim (each, a “Claim”) between the 
parties arising out of or relating to this Agreement or any other document, instrument or agreement between the undersigned parties 
(collectively in this Section, the “Comerica Documents”), will be resolved by a reference proceeding in California in accordance with the 
provisions of Sections 638 et seq. of the California Code of Civil Procedure (“CCP”), or their successor sections, which shall constitute 
the exclusive remedy for the resolution of any Claim, including whether the Claim is subject to the reference proceeding. Except as 
otherwise provided in the Comerica Documents, venue for the reference proceeding will be in the state or federal court in the county or 
district where the real property involved in the action, if any, is located or in the state or federal court in the county or district where 
venue is otherwise appropriate under applicable law (the “Court”).  

(c) The matters that shall not be subject to a reference are the following: (i) nonjudicial foreclosure of any security interests in real 
or personal property, (ii) exercise of self-help remedies (including, without limitation, set-off), (iii) appointment of a receiver and 
(iv) temporary, provisional or ancillary remedies (including, without limitation, writs of attachment, writs of possession, temporary 
restraining orders or preliminary injunctions). This reference provision does not limit the right of any party to exercise or oppose any of 
the rights and remedies described in clauses (i) and (ii) or to seek or oppose from a court of competent jurisdiction any of the items 
described in clauses (iii) and (iv). The exercise of, or opposition to, any of those items does not waive the right of any party to a reference 
pursuant to this reference provision as provided herein.  

(d) The referee shall be a retired judge or justice selected by mutual written agreement of the parties. If the parties do not agree 
within ten (10) days of a written request to do so by any party, then, upon request of any party, the referee shall be selected by the 
Presiding Judge of the Court (or his or her representative). A request for appointment of a referee may be heard on an ex parte or 
expedited basis, and the parties agree that irreparable harm would result if ex parte relief is not granted. Pursuant to CCP § 170.6, each 
party shall have one peremptory challenge to the referee selected by the Presiding Judge of the Court (or his or her representative).  

(e) The parties agree that time is of the essence in conducting the reference proceedings. Accordingly, the referee shall be requested, 
subject to change in the time periods specified herein for good cause shown, to (i) set the matter for a status and trial-setting conference 
within fifteen (15) days after the date of selection of the referee, (ii) if practicable, try all issues of law or fact within one hundred twenty 
(120) days after the date of the conference and  



(iii) report a statement of decision within twenty (20) days after the matter has been submitted for decision.  

(f) The referee will have power to expand or limit the amount and duration of discovery. The referee may set or extend discovery 
deadlines or cutoffs for good cause, including a party’s failure to provide requested discovery for any reason whatsoever. Unless 
otherwise ordered based upon good cause shown, no party shall be entitled to “priority” in conducting discovery, depositions may be 
taken by either party upon seven (7) days written notice, and all other discovery shall be responded to within fifteen (15) days after 
service. All disputes relating to discovery which cannot be resolved by the parties shall be submitted to the referee whose decision shall 
be final and binding.  

(g) Except as expressly set forth herein, the referee shall determine the manner in which the reference proceeding is conducted 
including the time and place of hearings, the order of presentation of evidence, and all other questions that arise with respect to the course 
of the reference proceeding. All proceedings and hearings conducted before the referee, except for trial, shall be conducted without a 
court reporter, except that when any party so requests, a court reporter will be used at any hearing conducted before the referee, and the 
referee will be provided a courtesy copy of the transcript. The party making such a request shall have the obligation to arrange for and 
pay the court reporter. Subject to the referee’s power to award costs to the prevailing party, the parties will equally share the cost of the 
referee and the court reporter at trial.  

(h) The referee shall be required to determine all issues in accordance with existing case law and the statutory laws of the State of 
California. The rules of evidence applicable to proceedings at law in the State of California will be applicable to the reference proceeding. 
The referee shall be empowered to enter equitable as well as legal relief, enter equitable orders that will be binding on the parties and rule 
on any motion which would be authorized in a court proceeding, including without limitation motions for summary judgment or summary 
adjudication. The referee shall issue a decision at the close of the reference proceeding which disposes of all claims of the parties that are 
the subject of the reference. Pursuant to CCP § 644, such decision shall be entered by the Court as a judgment or an order in the same 
manner as if the action had been tried by the Court and any such decision will be final, binding and conclusive. The parties reserve the 
right to appeal from the final judgment or order or from any appealable decision or order entered by the referee. The parties reserve the 
right to findings of fact, conclusions of laws, a written statement of decision, and the right to move for a new trial or a different judgment, 
which new trial, if granted, is also to be a reference proceeding under this provision.  

(i) If the enabling legislation which provides for appointment of a referee is repealed (and no successor statute is enacted), any 
dispute between the parties that would otherwise be determined by reference procedure will be resolved and determined by arbitration. 
The arbitration will be conducted by a retired judge or justice, in accordance with the California Arbitration Act §1280 through §1294.2 
of the CCP as amended from time to time. The limitations with respect to discovery set forth above shall apply to any such arbitration 
proceeding.  

(j) THE PARTIES RECOGNIZE AND AGREE THAT ALL CONTROVERSIES, DISPUTES AND CLAIMS RESOLVED 
UNDER THIS REFERENCE PROVISION WILL BE DECIDED BY A REFEREE AND NOT BY A JURY. AFTER CONSULTING 
(OR HAVING HAD THE OPPORTUNITY TO CONSULT) WITH COUNSEL OF ITS, HIS OR HER OWN CHOICE, EACH PARTY 
KNOWINGLY AND VOLUNTARILY, AND FOR THE MUTUAL BENEFIT OF ALL PARTIES, AGREES THAT THIS 
REFERENCE PROVISION WILL  



APPLY TO ANY CONTROVERSY, DISPUTE OR CLAIM BETWEEN OR AMONG THEM ARISING OUT OF OR IN ANY WAY 
RELATED TO, THIS AGREEMENT OR THE OTHER COMERICA DOCUMENTS.”  

(d) Schedule 6.8 (Existing Subsidiaries) is amended to be in the form of Amended Schedule 6.8 attached hereto.  

2. Conditions to Effectiveness . The amendments in Section 1 of this Amendment shall be effective as of the date hereof, subject to the 
Administrative Agent’s receipt of the following on or before June ____, 2006:  

(a) counterparts of this Amendment executed by the Administrative Agent, the Borrower and all Lenders;  

(b) a Third Amendment to Guaranty and a Third Amendment to Security Agreement;  

(c) a Consent of Guarantors, in form and substance satisfactory to the Agent, duly executed by each Guarantor;  

(d) certificates for all shares of the capital stock of Microsemi Corp. – Power Products Group and its domestic subsidiaries and stock 
powers endorsed in blank for each certificates; and  

(e) such other documentation as the Administrative Agent or any Lender shall reasonably request.  

3. Representations and Warranties . The Borrower represents and warrants as follows:  

(a) Authority; Enforceability . The Borrower has the requisite corporate power and authority to execute, deliver and perform this 
Amendment, and to perform its obligations under the Credit Agreement as amended hereby. The execution, delivery and performance by the 
Borrower of this Amendment, and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby, have been duly approved by the Board of 
Directors of the Borrower and no other corporate proceedings on the part of the Borrower are necessary to consummate such transactions. This 
Amendment has been duly executed and delivered by the Borrower. Each of this Amendment and the Credit Agreement as amended hereby 
constitutes the legal, valid and binding obligation of the Borrower, enforceable against the Borrower in accordance with its terms.  

(b) Loan Document Representations and Warranties . The representations and warranties contained in each Loan Document are true and 
correct on and as of the date hereof, before and after giving effect to this Amendment, as though made on and as of such date (unless stated to 
relate solely to an earlier date, in which case such representations and warranties shall be true and correct as of such earlier date).  

(c) Absence of Default . No event has occurred and is continuing, or would result from the effectiveness of this Amendment, that 
constitutes a Default.  

4. Reference to and Effect on the Loan Documents .  

(a) Upon and after the effectiveness of this Amendment, each reference in the Credit Agreement to “this Agreement”, “hereunder”, 
“hereof” or words of like import referring to the Credit Agreement, and each reference in the other Loan Documents to “the Credit 
Agreement” , “ thereunder” ,  



“thereof” or words of like import referring to the Credit Agreement, shall mean and be a reference to the Credit Agreement as modified and 
amended hereby.  

(b) Except as specifically amended above, the Credit Agreement and all other Loan Documents are and shall continue to be in full force 
and effect and are hereby in all respects ratified and confirmed.  

(c) The execution, delivery and effectiveness of this Amendment shall not, except as expressly provided herein, operate as a waiver of 
any right, power or remedy of any Lender or the Administrative Agent under any of the Loan Documents, nor constitute a waiver of any 
provision of any of the Loan Documents.  

5. Execution in Counterparts . This Amendment may be executed in any number of counterparts and by different parties hereto in separate 
counterparts, each of which when so executed and delivered shall be deemed to be an original and all of which taken together shall constitute 
but one and the same agreement. Delivery of an executed counterpart of a signature page to this Amendment by facsimile shall be effective as 
delivery of a manually executed account of this Amendment.  

[end of Amendment; signature page follows]  



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Tenth Amendment to Credit Agreement to be executed by their respective 
officers thereunto duly authorized, as of the date first above written.  
   

   

COMERICA BANK, as Administrative Agent 

By:    /s/ Jennifer S. Seto  
Name:   Jenifer S. Seto  
Title:    V.P.  

Address:    Comerica Bank 
    500 North State College Boulevard 
    Suite 570 
    Orange, CA 92868 
    Telephone: 714-940-6767 
    Facsimile: 714-940-6719 
    Attention: Jennifer S. Seto 

COMERICA BANK, as a Lender 

By:    /s/ Jennifer S. Seto  
Name:   Jenifer S. Seto 
Title:   V.P.   

Address:   Comerica Bank 
    500 North State College Boulevard 
    Suite 570 
    Orange, CA 92868 
    Telephone: 714-940-6767 
    Facsimile: 714-940-6719 
    Attention: Jennifer S. Seto 

This Amendment is approved and 
accepted as of the date first above written 

MICROSEMI CORPORATION  

By:    /s/ David R. Sonksen 
Name:   David R. Sonksen 
Title:   Executive Vice President, Chief 

  Financial Officer, Secretary and 
  Treasurer 



Amended Schedule 6.8  

MICROSEMI CORP. – INTEGRATED PRODUCTS  

MICROSEMI CORP. – SCOTTSDALE  

MICROSEMI CORP. – MASSACHUSETTS  

MICROSEMI CORP. – COLORADO  

MICROSEMIC CORP. – SANTA ANA  

MICROSEMI CORP. – POWER PRODUCTS GROUP (f/k/a Advanced Power Technology, Inc.)  

MICROSEMI CORP. – ADVANCED TECHNOLOGY CENTER (f/k/a Advanced Power Technology Colorado, Inc.)  

MICROSEMI CORP. – MONTOGMERYVILLE (f/k/a Advanced Power Technology RF – Pennsylvania, Inc.)  

MICROSEMI CORP. – RF POWER PRODUCTS (f/k/a Advanced Power Technology RF, Inc.)  
 



EXHIBIT 10.85.11 

ELEVENTH AMENDMENT  
TO  

CREDIT AGREEMENT  

Dated as of June 28, 2006  

This ELEVENTH AMENDMENT TO CREDIT AGREEMENT (this “ Amendment ”) is among MICROSEMI CORPORATION , 
a Delaware corporation (the “ Borrower ”), the several financial institutions party to the Credit Agreement referred to below (collectively, the “ 
Lenders ”; individually, a “ Lender ”), and COMERICA BANK , as administrative agent for the Lenders (the “ Administrative Agent ”).  

PRELIMINARY STATEMENTS:  

(1) The Borrower, the Lenders and the Administrative Agent have entered into that certain Credit Agreement dated as of April 2, 1999, as 
amended by the First Amendment to Credit Agreement dated as of June 25, 1999, the Second Amendment to Credit Agreement dated as of 
February 14, 2000, the Third Amendment to Credit Agreement dated as of April 2, 2001, the Fourth Amendment to Credit Agreement dated as 
of May 25, 2002, the Fifth Amendment to Credit Agreement dated as of December 5, 2002, the Sixth Amendment to Credit Agreement dated 
as of December 10, 2003, the Seventh Amendment to Credit Agreement dated as of March 31, 2004, the Eighth Amendment to Credit 
Agreement dated as of March 31, 2004, the Ninth Amendment to Credit Agreement dated as of March 29, 2005, and the Tenth Amendment to 
Credit Agreement dated as of June 1, 2006 (as so amended the “ Credit Agreement ”; capitalized terms used and not otherwise defined herein 
have the meanings assigned to such terms in the Credit Agreement).  

(2) The Borrower has requested that the Administrative Agent and the Lenders make certain amendments to the Credit Agreement.  

(3) The Administrative Agent and the Lenders are, on the terms and conditions stated below, willing to grant the request of the Borrower.  

NOW, THEREFORE in consideration of the premises and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of 
which are hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto hereby agree as follows:  

1. Amendments to Credit Agreement . Effective as of the date hereof and subject to the satisfaction of the conditions precedent set forth in 
Section 2 hereof, the Credit Agreement is hereby amended as follows:  

(a) The following definition is added to Section 1.1 in the appropriate alphabetical sequence as follows:  

“ ‘Special Permitted Investments’ means any of the following:  
   

   

   

  
(a) Direct obligations of, and obligations fully guaranteed by, the government of the United States of America or direct agencies 

of the federal government, as well as government chartered corporations that have either borrowing capacity at the United 
States Treasury, or a call on United States Treasury funds to support debt payments; 

  
(b) Direct obligations of, and obligations fully guaranteed by, any state or territory of the United States of America with a credit 

quality of A1/P1- or AA- by Standard & Poor’s (or equivalent); 

  
(c) Obligations of any municipal body within the United States of America with a credit quality rating of at least A1/P1- or AA- 

by Standard and Poor’s (or equivalent); 



   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

(b) Section 7.2.5(b) is amended and restated in its entirety as follows:  

“(b) Cash Equivalent Investments and Special Permitted Investments;”  

2. Conditions to Effectiveness . The amendments in Section 1 of this Amendment shall be effective as of the date hereof, subject to the 
Administrative Agent’s receipt of the following on or before June 28, 2006:  

(a) counterparts of this Amendment executed by the Administrative Agent, the Borrower and all Lenders;  

(b) a Consent of Guarantors, in form and substance satisfactory to the Agent, duly executed by each Guarantor; and  

(c) such other documentation as the Administrative Agent or any Lender shall reasonably request.  

3. Representations and Warranties . The Borrower represents and warrants as follows:  

(a) Authority; Enforceability . The Borrower has the requisite corporate power and authority to execute, deliver and perform this 
Amendment, and to perform its obligations under the Credit Agreement as  

  
(d) Senior or preferred classes of pass-through securities registered under the Securities Act of 1933 (Act), or issued under Rule 

144A, with a credit quality rating of at least AA- by Standard & Poor’s (or equivalent); 

  
(e) Obligations of any corporation that maintains a subordinated debt credit quality rating of at least A1 or A+ by Standard & 

Poor’s (or equivalent); 

  
(f) Investment securities issued (guaranteed) by a financial institution that is a member of the Federal Reserve System, provided 

that said institution is: 

  
(i) Ranked among the 100 largest United States institutions by assets (as listed by the American Banker in its most current 

listing); or, 

  (ii) An institution with equity of at least $500,000,000; or, 

  (iii) An institution that meets the credit requirements stated elsewhere in this section. 

  (g) Investment securities issued (guaranteed) by any non-US financial institution, provided that said institution is: 

  (i) Ranked among the 50 largest in the world by assets (as listed by the American Banker in its most current listing); or, 

  (ii) An institution with equity of at least $750,000,000. 

  
(h) Public Securities Association (PSA) repurchase agreements, master notes or deposits with counter parties that meet the 

credit requirements stated elsewhere in this section; and 

  (i) Shares in open-ended money market mutual funds as defined under Rule 2a-7 of the Investment Company Act of 1940.”  



amended hereby. The execution, delivery and performance by the Borrower of this Amendment, and the consummation of the transactions 
contemplated hereby, have been duly approved by the Board of Directors of the Borrower and no other corporate proceedings on the part of the 
Borrower are necessary to consummate such transactions. This Amendment has been duly executed and delivered by the Borrower. Each of 
this Amendment and the Credit Agreement as amended hereby constitutes the legal, valid and binding obligation of the Borrower, enforceable 
against the Borrower in accordance with its terms.  

(b) Loan Document Representations and Warranties . The representations and warranties contained in each Loan Document are true and 
correct on and as of the date hereof, before and after giving effect to this Amendment, as though made on and as of such date (unless stated to 
relate solely to an earlier date, in which case such representations and warranties shall be true and correct as of such earlier date).  

(c) Absence of Default . No event has occurred and is continuing, or would result from the effectiveness of this Amendment, that 
constitutes a Default.  

4. Reference to and Effect on the Loan Documents .  

(a) Upon and after the effectiveness of this Amendment, each reference in the Credit Agreement to “this Agreement”, “hereunder”, 
“hereof” or words of like import referring to the Credit Agreement, and each reference in the other Loan Documents to “the Credit 
Agreement”, “thereunder”, “thereof” or words of like import referring to the Credit Agreement, shall mean and be a reference to the Credit 
Agreement as modified and amended hereby.  

(b) Except as specifically amended above, the Credit Agreement and all other Loan Documents are and shall continue to be in full force 
and effect and are hereby in all respects ratified and confirmed.  

(c) The execution, delivery and effectiveness of this Amendment shall not, except as expressly provided herein, operate as a waiver of 
any right, power or remedy of any Lender or the Administrative Agent under any of the Loan Documents, nor constitute a waiver of any 
provision of any of the Loan Documents.  

5. Execution in Counterparts . This Amendment may be executed in any number of counterparts and by different parties hereto in separate 
counterparts, each of which when so executed and delivered shall be deemed to be an original and all of which taken together shall constitute 
but one and the same agreement. Delivery of an executed counterpart of a signature page to this Amendment by facsimile shall be effective as 
delivery of a manually executed account of this Amendment.  

[end of Amendment; signature page follows]  



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Eleventh Amendment to Credit Agreement to be executed by their 
respective officers thereunto duly authorized, as of the date first above written.  
   

   

 

COMERICA BANK, as Administrative Agent  

By:    /s/ Jennifer S. Seto  
Name:   Jenifer S. Seto  
Title:    V.P. 

Address:    Comerica Bank 
    500 North State College Boulevard 
    Suite 570 
    Orange, CA 92868 
    Telephone: 714-940-6767 
    Facsimile: 714-940-6719 
    Attention: Jennifer S. Seto 

COMERICA BANK, as a Lender  

By:    /s/ Jennifer S. Seto 
Name:   Jenifer S. Seto 
Title:    V.P. 

Address:    Comerica Bank 
    500 North State College Boulevard 
    Suite 570 
    Orange, CA 92868 
    Telephone: 714-940-6767 
    Facsimile: 714-940-6719 
    Attention: Jennifer S. Seto 

This Amendment is approved and  
accepted as of the date first above written  

MICROSEMI CORPORATION  

By:    /s/ David R. Sonksen 
Name:   David R. Sonksen 
Title:    Executive Vice President, 

  Chief Financial Officer, 
  Treasurer and Secretary 



EXHIBIT 10.85.12 

TWELFTH AMENDMENT  
TO  

CREDIT AGREEMENT  

Dated as of July 14, 2006  

This TWELFTH AMENDMENT TO CREDIT AGREEMENT (this “ Amendment ”) is among MICROSEMI CORPORATION , a 
Delaware corporation (the “ Borrower ”), the several financial institutions party to the Credit Agreement referred to below (collectively, the “ 
Lenders ”; individually, a “ Lender ”), and COMERICA BANK , as administrative agent for the Lenders (the “ Administrative Agent ”).  

PRELIMINARY STATEMENTS:  

(1) The Borrower, the Lenders and the Administrative Agent have entered into that certain Credit Agreement dated as of April 2, 1999, as 
amended by the First Amendment to Credit Agreement dated as of June 25, 1999, the Second Amendment to Credit Agreement dated as of 
February 14, 2000, the Third Amendment to Credit Agreement dated as of April 2, 2001, the Fourth Amendment to Credit Agreement dated as 
of May 25, 2002, the Fifth Amendment to Credit Agreement dated as of December 5, 2002, the Sixth Amendment to Credit Agreement dated 
as of December 10, 2003, the Seventh Amendment to Credit Agreement dated as of March 31, 2004, the Eighth Amendment to Credit 
Agreement dated as of March 31, 2004, the Ninth Amendment to Credit Agreement dated as of March 29, 2005, the Tenth Amendment to 
Credit Agreement dated as of June 1, 2006, and the Eleventh Amendment to Credit Agreement dated as of June 28, 2006 (as so amended the “ 
Credit Agreement ”; capitalized terms used and not otherwise defined herein have the meanings assigned to such terms in the Credit 
Agreement).  

(2) The Borrower has requested that the Administrative Agent and the Lenders make certain amendments to the Credit Agreement.  

(3) The Administrative Agent and the Lenders are, on the terms and conditions stated below, willing to grant the request of the Borrower.  

NOW, THEREFORE in consideration of the premises and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of 
which are hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto hereby agree as: follows:  

1. Amendment to Credit Agreement . Effective as of the date hereof and subject to the satisfaction of the conditions precedent set forth in 
Section 2 hereof, the Credit Agreement is hereby amended as follows:  

(a) Schedule 6.8 (Existing Subsidiaries) is amended to be in the form of Amended Schedule 6.8 attached hereto.  

2. Conditions to Effectiveness . The amendment in Section 1 of this Amendment shall be effective as of the date hereof, subject to the 
Administrative Agent’s receipt of the following on or before July 31, 2006:  

(a) counterparts of this Amendment executed by the Administrative Agent, the Borrower and all Lenders;  

(b) a Fourth Amendment to Guaranty and a Fourth Amendment to Security Agreement;  

(c) a Consent of Guarantors, in form and substance satisfactory to the Agent, duly executed by each Guarantor; and  

(d) such other documentation as the Administrative Agent or any Lender shall reasonably request.  



3. Representations and Warranties . The Borrower represents and warrants as follows:  

(a) Authority; Enforceability . The Borrower has the requisite corporate power and authority to execute, deliver and perform this 
Amendment, and to perform its obligations under the Credit Agreement as amended hereby. The execution, delivery and performance by the 
Borrower of this Amendment, and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby, have been duly approved by the Board of 
Directors of the Borrower and no other corporate proceedings on the part of the Borrower are necessary to consummate such transactions. This 
Amendment has been duly executed and delivered by the Borrower. Each of this Amendment and the Credit Agreement as amended hereby 
constitutes the legal, valid and binding obligation of the Borrower, enforceable against the Borrower in accordance with its terms.  

(b) Loan Document Representations and Warranties . The representations and warranties contained in each Loan Document are true and 
correct on and as of the date hereof, before and after giving effect to this Amendment, as though made on and as of such date (unless stated to 
relate solely to an earlier date, in which case such representations and warranties shall be true and correct as of such earlier date).  

(c) Absence of Default . No event has occurred and is continuing, or would result from the effectiveness of this Amendment, that 
constitutes a Default.  

4. Reference to and Effect on the Loan Documents .  

(a) Upon and after the effectiveness of this Amendment, each reference in the Credit Agreement to “this Agreement”, “hereunder”, 
“hereof” or words of like import referring to the Credit Agreement, and each reference in the other Loan Documents to “the Credit 
Agreement”, “thereunder”, “thereof” or words of like import referring to the Credit Agreement, shall mean and be a reference to the Credit 
Agreement as modified and amended hereby.  

(b) Except as specifically amended above, the Credit Agreement and all other Loan Documents are and shall continue to be in full force 
and effect and are hereby in all respects ratified and confirmed.  

(c) The execution, delivery and effectiveness of this Amendment shall not, except as expressly provided herein, operate as a waiver of 
any right, power or remedy of any Lender or the Administrative Agent under any of the Loan Documents, nor constitute a waiver of any 
provision of any of the Loan Documents.  

5. Execution in Counterparts . This Amendment may be executed in any number of counterparts and by different parties hereto in separate 
counterparts, each of which when so executed and delivered shall be deemed to be an original and all of which taken together shall constitute 
but one and the same agreement. Delivery of an executed counterpart of a signature page to this Amendment by facsimile shall be effective as 
delivery of a manually executed account of this Amendment.  

[end of Amendment; signature page follows]  



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Twelfth Amendment to Credit Agreement to be executed by their 
respective officers thereunto duly authorized, as of the date first above written.  

   

   

COMERICA BANK, as Administrative Agent  

By:    /s/ Jennifer S. Seto  
Name:   Jennifer S. Seto  
Title:    V.P. 

Address:    Comerica Bank 
    500 North State College Boulevard 
    Suite 570 
    Orange, CA 92868 
    Telephone: 714-940-6767 
    Facsimile: 714-940-6719 
    Attention: Jennifer S. Seto 

COMERICA BANK, as a Lender  

By:    /s/ Jennifer S. Seto 
Name:   Jennifer S. Seto 
Title:    V.P. 

Address:    Comerica Bank 
    500 North State College Boulevard 
    Suite 570 
    Orange, CA 92868 
    Telephone: 714-940-6767 
    Facsimile: 714-940-6719 
    Attention: Jennifer S. Seto 

This Amendment is approved and  
accepted as of the date first above written  

MICROSEMI CORPORATION  

By:    /s/ David R. Sonksen 
Name:   David R. Sonksen 
Title:    Executive V.P., C.F.O., Treasurer and Secretary 



Amended Schedule 6.8  

MICROSEMI CORP. – INTEGRATED PRODUCTS  

MICROSEMI CORP. – SCOTTSDALE  

MICROSEMI CORP. – MASSACHUSETTS  

MICROSEMI CORP. – COLORADO  

MICROSEMIC CORP. – SANTA ANA  

MICROSEMI CORP. – POWER PRODUCTS GROUP (f/k/a Advanced Power Technology, Inc.)  

MICROSEMI CORP. – ADVANCED TECHNOLOGY CENTER (f/k/a Advanced Power Technology Colorado, Inc.)  

MICROSEMI CORP. – MONTOGMERYVILLE (f/k/a Advanced Power Technology RF – Pennsylvania, Inc.)  

MICROSEMI CORP. – RF POWER PRODUCTS (f/k/a Advanced Power Technology RF, Inc.)  

MICROSEMI RF PRODUCTS, INC.  

MICROSEMI REAL ESTATE, INC.  

MICRO WAVESYS, INC.  
 



Exhibit 31 

CERTIFICATIONS  

I, James J. Peterson, certify that:  

1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Microsemi Corporation;  

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to 
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period 
covered by this report;  

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material 
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;  

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as 
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:  

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our 
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others 
within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;  

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under 
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for 
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;  

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about 
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and  

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s 
most recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial 
reporting; and  

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial 
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent 
functions):  

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are 
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and  

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s 
internal control over financial reporting.  

Date: August 11, 2006  
   

/s/ James J. Peterson 
James J. Peterson 
Chief Executive Officer and President 



I, David R. Sonksen, certify that:  

1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Microsemi Corporation;  

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to 
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period 
covered by this report;  

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material 
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;  

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as 
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:  

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our 
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others 
within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;  

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under 
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for 
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;  

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about 
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and  

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s 
most recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial 
reporting; and  

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial 
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent 
functions):  

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are 
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and  

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s 
internal control over financial reporting.  

Date: August 11, 2006  
   

 

/s/ David R. Sonksen 
David R. Sonksen  
Executive Vice President,  
Chief Financial Officer,  
Treasurer and Secretary  



Exhibit 32 

CERTIFIED WRITTEN STATEMENT ACCOMPANYING  
PERIODIC FINANCIAL REPORTS  

(Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350)  

The undersigned, James J. Peterson, Chief Executive Officer, and David R. Sonksen, Chief Financial Officer, of Microsemi Corporation, a 
Delaware corporation (the ”Company”), each hereby certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the 
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that—  
   

   

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have executed this certificate which accompanies the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q 
for the quarterly period ended July 2, 2006.  
   

  
(1) the accompanying periodic report containing financial statements filed by the Company with the Securities and Exchange 

Commission (the “Report”) fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 
U.S.C. 78m(a)); and 

  
(2) information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the 

Company. 

Dated: August 11, 2006     /s/ James J. Peterson 
    James J. Peterson, Chief Executive Officer and President 

Dated: August 11, 2006     /s/ David R. Sonksen 

    

David R. Sonksen, Executive Vice President,  
Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer and Secretary  


